
NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES (NACO) 
Board of Directors’ Meeting 

July 29, 10:00 a.m. 
Carson City Community Center 

Robert ‘Bob’ Crowell Board Room 
851 E. William St. 
Carson City, NV 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC: 
The public may provide public comment in advance of a meeting by written submission to the following email 
address: info@nvnaco.org For inclusion or reference in the minutes of the meeting, your public comment 
must include your full name and be submitted via email by not later than 3:00 p.m. the day before the 
meeting. 

The public may also join the meeting via telephone and provide verbal public comment during designated times 
by calling: 1-408-418-9388 Access code: 146 575 1833 

AGENDA 
NACO Board members may attend via phone or video from other locations. Items on the agenda may 
be taken out of order. The NACO Board may combine two or more agenda items for consideration. 
The NACO Board may remove an item from the agenda or delay discussion relating to an item on the 
agenda at any time.   

Call to Order, Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance  

1. Public Comment. Please Limit Comments to 3 Minutes.

2. Approval of Agenda. For Possible Action.

3. NACO President’s Report.

4. NACO Executive Director’s Report.

5. Approval of Minutes of the June 25, 2021, NACO Board of Directors Meeting. For Possible
Action

6. Discussion and Possible Decision Regarding Hiring of a New NACO Executive Director. For
Possible Action

7. Discussion of Transition Plan for and Resignation of Current NACO Executive Director
Stapleton. For Possible Action

8. Presentation of NACO’s 2020 Financial Audit, Michael Bertrand, Bertrand and Associates,
LLC.  For Possible Action

9. Presentation and Approval of NACO’s June 2021 Financials and June 2021 Investment
Report.  For Possible Action

10. Discussion and Possible Approval of a Contract with Resource Concepts, Inc., to Provide
Natural Resources and Public Lands Related Services to NACO to Ensure that Services to
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NACO Members are Uninterrupted While NACO’s Natural Resources Manager Position is 
Vacant, Jeremy Drew, Principal Resource Specialist, RCI.  For Possible Action 

11. Update and Discussion of NACO’s 2021 Annual Conference, September 28-30th, Hosted by
Churchill County.

12. Discussion and Possible Approval of NACO Support for the Appointment of Dr. Barry
Perryman to the Bureau of Land Management’s (BLM) National Wild Horse and Burro
Advisory Board. For Possible Action

13. Overview of Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT) Programs Including Funding,
Project Prioritization, and Communication with Counties, Kristina Swallow, Director, and
Guinevere Hobdy, Assistant Chief, Multimodal Planning.

14. Presentation and Overview of Nevada County Human Services from the Nevada Association
of County Human Services Directors.

15. Update and Possible Action Regarding Natural Resources and Public Lands Issues
Affecting Counties Including:

a. Updates from the Public Lands and Natural Resources Subcommittee

16. NACO Committee of the Emeritus Update.

17. Updates from Members on the National Association of Counties Board, Western Interstate
Region Board, and Individual Counties.

18. Public Comment.  Please Limit Comments to 3 Minutes.

Adjournment. 

Members of the public who are disabled and require special accommodations or assistance at the 
meeting are requested to notify NACO in writing at 304 S. Minnesota Street, Carson City, NV 89703, 
or by calling (775) 883-7863 at least three working days prior to the meeting. 

Members of the public can request copies of the supporting material for the meeting by contacting 
Amanda Evans at (775) 883-7863. Supporting material will be available at the NACO office and on 
the NACO website at: www.nvnaco.org 

This agenda was posted at the following locations: 
NACO Office 304 S. Minnesota Street, Carson City, NV 89703 
Washoe County Admin. Building 1001 E. Ninth Street, Reno, NV 89520 
Elko County Manager’s Office 540 Court Street #101, Elko NV 89801 
POOL/PACT 201 S. Roop Street, Carson City, NV 89701 



NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES (NACO) 
Board of Directors’ Meeting 

June 25, 9:30 a.m. 
Carson City Community Center 

Robert ‘Bob’ Crowell Board Room 
851 E. William St. 
Carson City, NV 

UNADOPTED MINUTES 

Attendance: President Kirkpatrick, Past President French, WIR Representative Steninger, Carson City 
Supervisor Giomi, Churchill County Commissioner Olsen, Clark County Commissioner Gibson, Douglas County 
Commissioner Gardner, Elko County Commissioner Andreozzi, Esmeralda County Commissioner Keyes, 
Eureka County Commissioner Goicoechea, Lincoln County Commissioner Lister, Lyon County Commissioner 
Keller, Mineral County Commissioner Hall, Pershing County Commissioner Shank, Washoe County 
Commissioner Hartung, White Pine County Commissioner Carson and NACO staff (Dagny Stapleton, Vinson 
Guthreau, Colby Prout and Amanda Evans) 

The meeting was called to order at 9:30 a.m. 

1. Public Comment. Kurt Englehart from the Office of Senator Cortez Masto provided his
contact information to the Board. Emily Lande-Rose from the Office of Senator Rosen
informed the Board of the departure of Nate Helton from the Senator’s staff and informed
the Board that she would be filling in until a replacement is found. Mary Kerner from the
Rural Nevada Development Corporation informed the Board that her office has small
business recovery funds available and thanked members of the Board for directing
businesses in need to their office.

2. Approval of Agenda. The agenda was approved on a motion by Commissioner Goicoechea
with second by Commissioner Lister.

3. NACO President’s Report. President Kirkpatrick informed the Board of a portal available
on the Governor’s website that is collecting ideas on how the State should spend its COVID-
19 recovery funds. She encouraged the Board to utilize the portal and focus on suggestions
to benefit the whole state, such as Broadband infrastructure and drought mitigation efforts.
She reminded the Board that a Special Session of the Legislature is expected in August to
address the allocation of the funds and reiterated that State dollars should be spent on
infrastructure items before counties allocated dollars to those projects. President
Kirkpatrick then expressed concerns with AB385, which limits fringe benefits that can be
placed in contracts that are not performance related. She discussed the importance of some
of these types of benefits for contract employees such as County Managers and informed the
Board that Clark County is working with their attorneys to discover exactly what the
limitations are and will share their findings with the Board.

4. NACO Executive Director’s Report. Dagny discussed the Medicaid Match Assessment
contracts, reminding the Board that they must be identical for all 17 counties per Federal
regulations. She informed the Board that the draft contracts distributed to the counties for
the Biennium are not final and should not be brought before the individual Commissions for
approval, noting that final language is still be worked on for the contracts. She then
discussed the Department of Indigent Defense Services and reminded the Board that NACO
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had fought hard at the Legislative level to hold counties harmless for additional costs 
associated with Indigent Defense. She informed the Board that it is critical for counties to 
track the costs associated with Indigent Defense and that they will need to work closely 
with their courts to determine those costs. She reminded the Board that funding had been 
allocated by the Legislature to reimburse counties for costs over and above the limits placed 
by the 2019 Legislation and suggested placing a line item in their budgets to assist with the 
tracking of those costs. Commissioner Lister informed the Board that Lincoln County had 
reported their total costs for their Public Defender, which had skewed the County’s baseline 
number and noted that the submitted reports can be amended. Dagny informed the Board 
that the China Spring Working Group had been assembled and had a good first meeting, 
noting that the Group will meet monthly and regular reports will be brought before the 
Board. She reminded the Board of the upcoming National Association of Counties (NACo) 
Annual Conference and gave an overview of the process for voting for the 2nd Vice President 
of the Association, noting the importance of the assigning of delegates by the counties. 
Vinson then discussed the upcoming redistricting process. He noted that the process had 
been delayed by the release of Census information and that the Legislative Council Bureau 
(LCB) will be having a training for counties on how to address the process. Vinson noted 
that the data is expected to be released on August 16th and that when the map modification 
process is completed by the LCB, that the maps will be available to local governments. He 
then referred the Board to the link included in the agenda packet for additional information. 
Vinson described AB413 which formed a working group to address transportation funding 
issues. He noted that a working group had been formed by previous legislation, but the 
pandemic had not allowed the group to complete their mission. Vinson informed the Board 
that the appointments to the working group are approved by the Department of 
Transportation, not the Governor, and the group is expected to meet monthly. He told the 
Board that he is acting as the NACO representative, but that the Department has requested 
an alternative appointment. Vinson encouraged the Board to put forth names to staff for the 
alternative position but cautioned them that the meetings last for an entire day and the 
alternate member is expected to attend all the meetings. He concluded the discussion on the 
working group by informing the Board that a report of the working groups findings must be 
submitted to the Legislature in December of 2022. President Kirkpatrick then closed the 
item by discussing a study group created by the Legislature to discuss COVID-19. She 
cautioned the group that the tasks of the study group, and the information they are 
expected to collect, are already covered under the Department of Emergency Management’s 
After-Action Reports and as such are already documented.  

5. Approval of Minutes of the May 21, 2021 NACO Board of Directors Meeting. The
minutes were approved on a motion by Commissioner Hartung with second by Past
President French.

6. Discussion of the Departure of NACO Executive Director Dagny Stapleton Including
Transition and Hiring Plan. Dagny thanked the Board for the support during her 8-year
tenure at NACO. She noted she was honored to serve Nevada’s counties and that leaving was
a very hard decision for her to make. She told the group that she was committed to leaving
the organization with strong leadership and ensured a smooth transition. She referred to
the position announcement included in the agenda materials, noting that staff was prepared
to post the announcement that day if it was approved, noting the plan is to conduct
interviews in July. President Kirkpatrick stated that she was sad to see Dagny leaving, but
that she was excited to see what Dagny would next. She informed the Board that the
Executive Committee had met with Dagny and that Committee though it was a good time to
do a wider search and see what kind of candidates are looking for positions in local
government, she also encouraged Vinson to apply for the position. Commissioner



Goicoechea noted that the announcement was comprehensive and that he also supported 
Vinson in applying but that it is good to know what kind of candidates are out there. Several 
other members of Board thanked Dagny for her service to the organization and wished her 
well going forward. The plan for the ED search, including the Position Announcement and 
its posting were approved on a motion by Commissioner Goicoechea with second by 
Commissioner Carson. 

7. Discussion of Upcoming NACO Board of Director’s Meeting Dates and Locations.
President Kirkpatrick reminded the Board that they had previously approved having a
meeting in Clark County in July. She discussed the excessive heat the area has been
experiencing and issues that have come up with travel, specifically airline travel. Several
Commissioners noted conflicts with being able to attend the meeting as proposed. President
Kirkpatrick then informed the Board that she and Past President French had been trying to
work out a date to celebrate his year as President, but that one was unavailable that met
with everyone’s approval. She then informed the Board that they had agreed to a “Super
Bash” to celebrate both their tenures as President of NACO during the Annual Conference.
Commissioner Lister noted that the Public Lands and Natural Resources Subcommittee
traditionally meets on Thursdays prior to the Board Meetings and inquired as to the group’s
appetite for the Subcommittee to meet earlier in the morning and push the Board meeting
to later. It was suggested that the Subcommittee discuss the option going forward before
any plans were made to permanently change the meetings. The Board approved the July
meeting maintaining its currently approved Thursday date, being held in Carson City at
10:00 a.m., with the Subcommittee meeting taking place at 8:00 a.m. by consensus.

8. Recommendation of Nominees to Serve on the Board of Trustees of the Fund for
Hospital Care to Indigent Persons (IAF).  Dagny gave the Board an overview of the IAF
and how the program utilizes the property tax collected by the counties. She informed the
Board the current members of the IAF Board are Chair, Humboldt County Commissioner
French; Vice Chair, Eureka County Commissioner Sharkozy; Clark County Commissioner
Jones; Pershing County Commissioner Shank, and Clark County Human Services
Administrator, Tim Burch. Dagny informed the Board that Commissioner’s French and
Shank and Human Services Administrator Burch had requested reappointment. Clark
County Commissioner McCurdy had indicated the desire to be appointed to Commissioner
Jones seat and Carson City Supervisor Giomi had requested appointment to Commissioner
Sharkozy’s seat. Dagny then informed the Board that statute requires the submission of six
Commissioners and three Human Services representatives to the Governor for
consideration. Commissioners Andreozzi and Carson indicated willingness to be put forth
and Dagny informed the Board that Human Services Administrators Mary Jane Ostrander
from Carson City and Shayla Holmes from Lyon County had also consented to be put forth.
The Board voted to put forth all Commissioners and Human Services Administrators as
discussed on a motion by Commissioner Hall with second by Commissioner Gardner.

9. Recommendation of One Nominee Who Resides in a County Whose Population is Less
than 100,000 to Serve on the Board on Indigent Defense Services.  Dagny informed the
Board that the nomination was needed due to the resignation of former Nye County
Commissioner Lorinda Wichman, and that Commissioner Hall had expressed interested in
serving on the Board. Commissioner Lister noted that he believes the Commissioner Hall
will be a good addition to that Board. Commissioner Hall’s nomination was approved on a
motion by Past President French with second by Commissioner Lister.

10. Discussion and Possible Approval of a Contract to Purchase and Install Video
Conferencing Equipment in the NACO Board Room.  President Kirkpatrick informed the



Board that she had requested the item be placed on the agenda. Dagny informed the Board 
that the current system is out of date and not usable, thanking Carson City for their support 
and allowing the NACO meetings to be held in their facilities with remote attendance 
capabilities. Dagny then informed the Board that staff had worked diligently to find a 
contractor that could accommodate the Association’s needs and the contract included in the 
agenda materials realized cost savings by utilizing components from the current system. 
President Kirkpatrick informed the Board that the Executive Committee had approved the 
submission of a down payment for the work, as components are currently very hard to 
obtain. Commissioner Goicoechea inquired as to if the new system would work across 
multiple platforms, and not be limited to one as the old system had been. Dagny clarified 
that the proposed system is completely web based and will accommodate multiple 
platforms such as Zoom etc. The contract was approved on a motion by Commissioner 
Goicoechea with second by Supervisor Giomi.  

11. Discussion and Possible Approval to Accept a Grant from the Nevada Department of
Public and Behavioral Health to Assist Counties with Public Health and Addiction
Recovery Infrastructure.  (Ms. Julia Peek was unable to join the meeting as expected due
to her required attendance at another meeting. This item was taken out of order to
accommodate Ms. Peek’s necessary attendance, by consensus of the Board.) Dagny gave the
Board an overview of the item, noting that the grant for the position is federal dollars from
the CDC in the amount of $300,000 for two years. She informed the Board that the intent is
to bring on a staff person at NACO to assist counties in identifying needs and implementing
programs, such as possible regionalization of services, behavioral health services, and
standing up programs with opioid settlement dollars. Ms. Peek addressed the Board and
thanked NACO as a critical partner is the response to the COVID-19 pandemic. She noted
that when she learned of the funding, she immediately thought of NACO as the best partner
in utilizing the funding for the most impactful, advantageous, and successful outcomes for
public health across the state. Ms. Peek discussed the position being responsible for
assessing and addressing foundational infrastructure, assessments, funding, and statute
changes among other duties, and again noted that NACO is the most appropriate partner for
the State to be successful in this mission. Commissioner Andreozzi stated that the proposal
is a good endeavor and spoke to Elko County’s challenges in determining what non-profit
organizations are providing what services, as they change frequently due to grant funding.
He also discussed challenges in access to mental health services. Supervisor Giomi agreed
with Commissioner Andreozzi and suggested that the scope for the position specifically call
out coordination with non-profit organizations. He also stressed the need to ensure that the
work done is integrated in a whole of government approach, including law enforcement and
first responders, to ensure that planning isn’t conducted in a silo model. President
Kirkpatrick requested clarification that the position would be held under NACO to work
with the State and noted that she agreed with the comments of Commissioner Andreozzi
and Supervisor Giomi. Ms. Peek stated that the funding is provided under a workforce grant,
the position would be a staff member of NACO and when the grant expires the position
would end. Commissioner Carson reflected on the benefits the position would provide,
especially for some of the more rural counties that are considered to be ‘frontier’.
Commissioner Andreozzi expressed hope that one task of the position would be to take
inventory of and find gaps in behavioral health issues in jails. Commissioner Steninger
requested clarification of the budget document included in the agenda packet. Dagny
informed the Board that she had worked with Fiscal Officer Kalt on the document and the
three columns are different salary options to be chosen from based upon the qualifications
and experience of the person chosen for the position. President Kirkpatrick noted that the
end goal is to do the work to allow the counties to stand alone and stressed that no
commitments for county funding be included in any proposals. She then inquired as to how



soon the position could begin. Ms. Peek informed the Board that the Interim Finance 
Committee had approved the grant funding and the dollars could begin being released as 
early as July 1st and Dagny noted that the hiring process would begin as soon as possible 
upon approval by the Board. The acceptance of the grant and approval of the temporary 
position were approved on a motion by Commissioner Carson with second by 
Commissioner Andreozzi.  

12. Summary of Outcomes from the 2021 Legislative Session. Dagny referred the Board’s
attention to the final Bill Tracker and Legislative Summary included in the agenda packet.
She informed the Board that over 1,000 bills had been released during the Session and
NACO had tracked approximately half of those bills. She thanked staff, the Board, and the
Legislative Subcommittee for their efforts during the session gave the Board an overview of
the outcomes of the Session. Three of NACO’s four bills were approved, bills with fiscal
impacts to counties were worked on as were bills relating to justice reforms. She requested
that counties track the fiscal impacts of the justice reform legislation, specifically relating to
initial court appearances and bail reforms as staff will need that information to address
fiscal impacts in the next Session. State assessments to counties were discussed and it was
noted that there were increases to rural child protective services assessments, final county
assessments from the State will be distributed when received. Vinson addressed actions
required by counties due to legislative actions and referred to the document included in the
agenda packet. He also thanked the county lobbying team for their hard work, especially
given the unique way the Session was conducted with severely limited access to the
building and Legislators. President Kirkpatrick also praised the county lobbying team’s
work to lessen the impacts of proposed legislation. Commissioner Andreozzi inquired as to
the effective date of the bill that limits fringe benefits for contract employees. He also
discussed the work done by the mining industry to introduce and pass a bill that effectively
killed the proposed resolutions that would have seriously affected the industry and county
revenues. He noted that education funding is important but there needs to be accountability
for how those dollars are spent, he also referred to the cannabis dollars for education. It was
clarified by Vinson that AB385, regarding contract benefits, does not go into effect until
December of 2022 and is not retroactive. Dagny informed the Board that she had worked on
amendments to the bill that had some things taken out and the League of Cities had been
successful in having the effective date pushed back. Dagny concluded the item by also
noting that staff had worked with the mining association to ensure that county Net Proceeds
were not affected by the passage of AB495. No action was taken.

13. Update and Possible Action Regarding Natural Resources and Public Lands Issues
Affecting Counties Including:

a. Updates from the Public Lands and Natural Resources Subcommittee. Colby
informed the Board that the Subcommittee had discussed the rule review period
ending due to the change in the Administration and noted that the various agencies
intentions are slowly being revealed. He also discussed the Fish and Wildlife
Service’s announcement on a series of rescissions, revisions, etc. that would be
released on the Endangered Species Act and the directive of President Biden to
remand a new Waters of the US rule consistent with prior court decisions and
comments, reminding the Board that all proposed rule changes would have
comment periods.  Past President French discussed the possibility of Board action
regarding the issue surrounding wild horse and burros. He noted the severe impacts
the drought is having on rangelands and the ever-increasing critical condition of the
horse and burro populations. He noted that the BLM is currently hauling water to
the animals and that those that do survive the summer will face a sever lack of



forage in the winter. He then discussed the Department of Wildlife’s efforts to 
protect critical wildlife habitat areas from the horse’s and release of depredation 
tags to help manage herd populations for the best outcome based on lack of water 
and forage. Past President French then noted that at the recent meeting of the BLM 
Wildhorse and Burro Advisory Board discussed the perfect storm for a catastrophic 
die off of animals due to the drought that is currently occurring. He then discussed 
the letter currently circulating in Washington that proposes to eliminate the BLM’s 
adoption program.  President French then suggested the drafting of a letter to the 
Federal Delegation that describes the impacts from wild horse and burro 
overpopulation and mismanagement, , encourages coordinated efforts to minimize 
the impacts to wildlife, and stresses that the impacts are broader than just to 
rangelands and the ranching industry. President Kirkpatrick supported the drafting 
of a letter and suggested reaching out to NACo for additional assistance with the 
issue in Washington DC. Commissioner Lister suggested the inclusion of the moral 
impacts of the current situation, specifically noting that those in Washington are not 
having to watch the deterioration, starvation, dehydration, and death of the animals 
on the ground. Commissioner Goicoechea agreed with Commissioner Lister and 
suggested the inclusion of support for BLM State Director Raby’s 5-year plan. The 
drafting of a letter was approved on a motion by Commissioner Steninger with 
second by Commissioner Lister. 

14. NACO Committee of the Emeritus Update. Vinson informed the Board that the Committee
had met on June 4th discussing topics for the Committee workshops held during the interim,
those topics included a legislative update, redistricting and the usage of American Rescue
Plan Act (ARPA) funding. It was noted that staff is currently working on a workshop on uses
of ARPA as there is a firm deadline for counties to submit their plans for usage of the funds.
The Committee also discussed the Legislative Summary and Annual Conference educational
session ideas. The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for August 13th. President
Kirkpatrick encouraged to look at content for the passage of AB1, NACO’s bill that requires
training on local government for new Legislators. Vinson noted that is a great idea and that
resources already exist to assist with those efforts. He also informed the Board that the LCB
had stated, on the legislative record, that they would work with, and perhaps defer to, NACO
on the content of the training.

15. Updates from Members on the National Association of Counties Board, Western
Interstate Region Board (WIR), and Individual Counties. NACo Board Member,
President Kirkpatrick informed the Board that she had recently met with the Labor
Secretary and that she is working on obtaining $100 million for statewide workforce
training, she also asked him about speaking at the upcoming NACO Annual Conference, and
he assured her he will consult with his schedule. President Kirkpatrick also discussed the
upcoming National Annual Conference and the multitude of updates being released from
Treasury on the ARPA funding. WIR Board Representative, Commissioner Steninger
informed the Board that he had attended a meeting in May and that the group had elected
new officers and discussed the 30 by 30 plan, which he encouraged the Public Lands and
Natural Resources Committee to discuss for possible future action by the Board.
Commissioner Steninger also discussed a tour which centered around forest thinning and
subsequent wildfire behavior and noted that he had attended several talks given by Federal
Agency Officials. Updates on activities within their counties were given by other members of
the Board.

16. Public Comment.  Linda Bissett informed the Board that she was retiring from NV Energy
on July 9th and thanked them for their support during her tenure.



The meeting was adjourned at 11:46 a.m. 
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777 E. William St. Suite 206 
Carson City, NV 89701 

   Tel 775.882.8892  
 Fax 775.562.2667 

Email: Michael@bertrandcpa.com 

Bertrand & Associates, LLC
Certified Public Accountants 
Members American Institute of Certified Public Accountants       

July 7, 2021 

To the Board of Directors 
Nevada Association of County Commissioners 
304 S. Minnesota St. 
Carson City, NV 89703 

Dear Board members, 

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities of Nevada Association 
of County Commissioners (NACO) for the year ended December 31, 2020. Professional 
standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities under generally 
accepted auditing standards as well as certain information related to the planned scope and 
timing of our audit. Professional standards require that we provide you with the following 
information related to our audit which is divided into the following two sections: 

Section I – Required Communications with those Charged with Governance 

Section II – Other Recommendations and Related Information 

Section I includes information that current auditing standards require independent auditors to 
communicate to those individuals charged with governance. We will report this information 
annually to the Board in our Audit Committee Letter. 

Section II presents recommendations related to internal controls, procedures, and other matters 
during our current audit year. These comments are offered in the interest of helping the Board in 
its efforts toward continuous improvement, not just in the areas of internal controls and 
accounting procedures, but also in operations, and administrative efficiency and effectiveness. 

Section I – Communications Required under AU 260 

Our Responsibility under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards 
As stated in our engagement letter dated July 27, 2020, our responsibility, as described by 
professional standards, is to express opinions about whether the financial statements prepared by 
management with your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with 
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  Our audit of the financial statements does not 
relieve you or management of your responsibilities. 

Our responsibility for the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, as 
described by professional standards, is to evaluate the presentation of the supplementary 
information in relation to the financial statements as a whole, and to report on whether the 
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supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole. 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 
We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to 
you in our letter regarding planning matters dated July 27, 2020. 

Significant Audit Findings 
Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 
Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The 
significant accounting policies used by NACO are described in Note 1 to the financial 
statements. No new accounting policies were adopted, and the application of existing policies 
was not changed during the fiscal year audited. However, we recommend that the existing policy 
and procedures manual be updated and made readily available to staff and management. 

We noted no transactions entered by the governmental unit during the year for which there is a 
lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have been recognized in 
the financial statements in the proper period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management 
and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and 
assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because 
of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events 
affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.  

The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were: 
The most sensitive estimates affecting NACO’s financial statements were Compensated 
Absences, the implementation of GASB 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, 
and the tracking of other revenues and expenditures where NACO acts as a pass-through 
organization in disbursing pandemic-related small business grants. 

The estimate for Compensated Absences is based on accrued time valued at each employee’s 
current pay rate as of year-end. The value of that balance will change dependent upon the pay 
rate at the time it is used.   

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the Compensated Absences 
balance in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a 
whole. 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements was 
regarding GASB 68 which records the pension liability.   For the pension amounts, these are 
prepared by PERS in an actuarial study and are available to the public on their web site. 

Lastly, NACO contracted to administer a County Small Business Grant Program that was funded 
from the CARES Act for the purpose to assist small businesses affected by the COVID-19 
pandemic.   NACO received federal funds and disbursed those funds in its administration.  
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Management has agreed and accepted the proposed adjustments and recommendations. 
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 
completing our audit. 

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatement 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 
during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the 
appropriate level of management. The adjustments proposed were as follows: 

1. The adjustment required for recording the GASB 68 pension liability. Management has
recorded this entry that we provided.

2. NACO administered the County Small Business Grant Program The payments made were shown
as an expense to NACO rather than a receivable and amounts received were reported as revenues.
An adjustment was recommended and accepted by management to show amounts to be
reimbursed to NACO as receivable and to properly show the revenues earned by NACO.

3. Depreciation for a new roof was not taken and a proposed adjustment was proposed, and
management accepted it.

4. An adjustment was made to restate prior year financial statements to correct pension
expense for 2019 and the deferred outflows in the amount of $39,079.

Disagreements with Management 
For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, 
or auditing matter, whether resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose 
during our audit. 

Management Representations 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the 
Management Representation Letter dated July 7, 2021.  

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, like obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation 
involves application of an accounting principle to the governmental unit’s financial statements or 
a determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our 
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the 
consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with 
other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the governmental unit’s 
auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional 
relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
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Section II – Other Recommendations and Related Information 

Other Matters 
With respect to the supplementary information accompanying the financial statements, we made 
certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the 
information to determine that the information complies with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it has not changed from the 
prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation to our audit of the 
financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the 
underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves. 

We provided an audit committee recommendations letter to the fiscal officer. In that letter we 
identified exceptions and noted our recommendations. 

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors charged with 
governance and management, and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other 
than these specified parties. 

Very truly yours, 

Bertrand & Associates LLC 
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Nevada Association of County Commissioners 
304 S.  Minnesota St. 
Carson City, NV 89703 

Dagny Stapleton, Executive Director 
Alan Kalt, Fiscal Officer 

RE: 2021 Audit Committee Letter 

Dear Ms. Stapleton and Mr. Kalt, 

It is our responsibility to report on the fair presentation of the financial statements in all material 
respects. Management is responsible for developing and maintaining an effective system of 
internal accounting controls, keeping the accounting books in good order and for all amounts 
including the estimates that are presented in the financial statements. Our responsibility as the 
auditor is to examine, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements; therefore, our audit involved judgment about the number of transactions to 
be examined and tested. Because of the concept of reasonable assurance and because we did not 
perform a detailed examination of all transactions, there is a risk that material errors, fraud, or 
other illegal acts may exist and not be detected by us.  

The financial statements contain significant estimates that are the responsibility of management. 
The most significant is the net pension liability. Management obtains the estimate for the net 
pension liability from the annual report provided by PERS.  

1 - Communication of control deficiencies or material weaknesses. - Statement on Auditing 
Standards (SAS) 115. 
The following comments and recommendations are based on the results of our audit of the 
Association’s 2020 financial statements. 

Our consideration of internal controls was for the limited purpose of conducting our 
organization’s audit and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal controls that 
might be significant or material weaknesses.  

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned duties to prevent or detect 
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misstatements on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a control deficiency or combination of 
control deficiencies that adversely affects the entity’s ability to initiate, authorize, record, process 
or report financial data reliably in accordance with accounting principles such that there is more 
than a remote likelihood that a misstatement of the entity’s financial statements, that is more than 
inconsequential, will not be prevented or detected by the entity’s internal controls.  

A material weakness is a significant deficiency or combination of significant deficiencies that 
results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial statements 
will not be detected by the entity’s internal controls.  

It is important to note that control deficiencies are not necessarily problems you will choose to 
address. However, they do represent potential risks. Our job as your auditor is to ensure that you 
understand where deficiencies or weaknesses exist so that you can make informed business 
decisions on how best to respond to these risks. We did not identify deficiencies in internal 
controls that we would consider to be material, but we did identify a significant deficiency in the 
reporting of the revenues and disbursements from a new program that was administered by 
NACO in response to the pandemic described below as item 7B.  We report below our findings 
and weaknesses that management may want to address to improve controls.  

2 - The following prior-year comments were not implemented and may be helpful in 
strengthening internal controls. 

We recommended that the accounting policy and procedures manual be updated. This had not 
been performed. 

All other recommendations appear to have been implemented. 

3 - Disbursements tests performed 
We tested disbursement controls, selecting a sample to provide a 95% confidence level. 

In addition, we selected a sample of disbursements and checked for appropriate signatures and 
verified that amounts agreed to invoices, included evidence of approval and that those 
disbursements were recorded to the proper accounts.   

Findings: No exceptions were noted as a result of this testing. 

Total 
Disbursements

Total 
Disbursements 

Tested ($)
Percent 
Tested

Total 
Disbursements 

Count

Total 
Disbursements 
Tested (Count)

Percent 
Tested

Admin Expenses 385,585$       274,768$       71% 295 60 20%
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4- Bank reconciliation controls
Bank statements are reviewed by the Fiscal officer and the Executive Director and documented 
by their initials on a copy of the bank statement. We noted that statements were documented for 
all months except for missing the executive director’s signature for one month of the Bank of 
America account statement and two months for the Wells Fargo account statements. 

5-Depreciaton schedule not reconciled to general ledger
It was noted that the cost of a new roof constructed in 2019 was not included on the deprecation 
schedule though it was reflected in the balance on the general ledger. Depreciation was not 
recorded for this asset either on the asset schedule or the general ledger. It was also noted that an 
asset was sold, and the gain or loss was not recorded. 

We recommend that the depreciation schedule at year end be reconciled to the general ledger 
accounts. 

6 – Paid time of schedule 
The paid time off (PTO) schedule records time accrued for vacation and sick leave and deducts 
amounts used. The PTO accrual in the financial statements properly reflected the 240 caps on 
vacation for employees for non-legislative years.  

 Employees have access to pay stubs online so they can monitor their paid time off from pay 
period to pay period. The bookkeeper maintains an Excel worksheet to track changes in paid time 
off and uses this to record accruals on the books. Though the correct amount was recorded in the 
financial statements, the schedule did not show an adjustment at the end of the year for time that 
exceeded the cap. 

We recommend that the Excel schedule include a line that shows amounts that are not being 
carried forward to the next year. 

7 – Proposed audit adjustments 
The following adjustments were proposed to management and accepted and recorded as of 
December 31, 2020. 

A - An adjustment to comply with GASB 68 which requires the reporting of the net pension 
liability and the associated deferred outflows and inflows. This amount is based on the PERS 
actuarial report dated June 30, 2020.  

B – NACO administered the County Small Business Grant Program, a program funded by the 
CARES Act to provide help to small businesses as a result of the pandemic. NACO contracted to 
receive a 1% fee to administer the program. NACO contracted with National Development 
Council to develop an on-line application process to assist NACO’s disbursement of CARES Act 
funding to qualified business.  NACO disbursed funds that were later to be reimbursed from the 
counties where those businesses are located. The payments made were shown as an expense to 
NACO rather than a receivable and amounts received were incorrectly reported as revenues. 

An adjustment was recommended and accepted by management to show amounts to be 
reimbursed to NACO as receivable and to properly show the revenues earned by NACO.  The 
adjustments resulted in increasing net income by $120,952. 
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C - A new roof was purchased in 2019 and capitalized in the books, however, it was not shown 
on the asset and depreciation schedule and was not depreciated. We recommend that the asset and 
depreciation schedule be reconciled to the general ledger annually. 

We proposed an adjustment and management accepted to report depreciation expenses of $908. 

D- Prior year statements were restated for a correction from an error in a calculation. The
correction increased the pension expense reported for the year 2019 by $39,079and reduced the
corresponding deferred outflows by the same amount.

8 – GASB 87 accounting for leases to be implemented next year 
Beginning in the year ended December 31, 2021, NACO will be required to report leases in 
accordance with the new accounting standard, GASB 87.  Leases of any right-of -use assets 
(ROU) need to be recorded as an asset that is amortized with the corresponding liability. Any 
leases that have a term beyond 12 months will be exempt from this standard.   

Assuming NACO obtains an operating lease for equipment as in the past, those payments will be 
required to be allocated to interest and principal on a separate line item for labeled “lease 
expense”.  Thus, new lease expenses will include the interest and amortization of the asset.  

In conclusion, staff and management were very helpful in providing items requested on a timely 
basis.  If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact us. 

Sincerely, 

Bertrand & Associates, LLC 
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Bertrand & Associates, LLC
Certified public accountants 
Members American Institute of Certified Public Accountants        

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Executive Director and the Board of Directors 
Nevada Association of County Commissioners 
Carson City, Nevada 

Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying statement of net position–proprietary fund of the Nevada Association 
of County Commissioners (NACO), a non-profit corporation, as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the 
related statements of revenues and expenses and changes in net position–proprietary fund and statement 
of changes in cash flows–proprietary fund for the years then ended. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 

777 E. William St. Suite 206 
Carson City, NV 89701 

   Tel 775.882.8892  
 Fax 775.562.2667 
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Opinions 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial positions of the business-type activities of the Nevada Association of County 
Commissioners as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and the respective changes in financial position and 
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

Emphasis of Matter 
As discussed in Note 9 to the financial statements, the 2019 financial statements have been restated to 
correct an error.  The pension expense was originally understated by $39,079 and the deferred outflows 
was overstated by the same amount. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.  

Other Matters 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, GASB required supplemental information and budgetary comparison information 
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers 
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Carson City, Nevada 
July 7, 2021 
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Management Discussion and Analysis 

Overview of Annual Financial Report 
The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) serves as an introduction and should be  
read in conjunction with the basic audited financial statements.  This analysis represents management’s 
examination and analysis of the board’s financial condition and performance. 

The Board uses the accrual basis of accounting for financial statement reporting and the statements have 
been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The financial statements 
include statements of net position, statements of revenues and expenses, changes in net position, and 
statements of cash flows. 

The statement of net position presents the financial position of NACO on the accrual basis of accounting. 
This statement provides information on NACO’ s assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows 
and the difference reported as net position. Pension expense report in 2019 in the prior year was 
understated by $39,079 and deferred inflows of resources were overstated by the same amount. This 
accounting error was corrected in the restatement of the prior year amounts in 2019.  See Note 9 for more 
details. 

The notes to the financial statements provide required disclosures and other information that are essential 
to a full understanding of material data provided in the financial statements. The notes present 
information about the Board’s accounting policies, significant account balances and activities, material 
risks, obligations, commitments, contingencies and subsequent events, if any. 

Proprietary fund 
NACO maintains an enterprise fund, a type of proprietary fund, to report the same functions presented as 
business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The enterprise fund accounts for 
NACO activity. 

Financial Highlights 
NACO’ s assets decreased in 2020 by $75,031, to $1,901,972.  The decrease is mostly attributable to the 
decrease in cash from $751,832 to $567,483.  This decrease of $184,349 is due in large part to cash used 
for operating activities of $251,568 offset by cash flow of $67,219 provided by investing activities. 
Account receivable increased by $129,539 due to the timing of the collection of receipts related to the 
County Small Business Grant program funded by the CARES Act.  Investments decreased from $649,353 
to $641,024 due to a reduction in the interest rates during the year. Fixed assets reduced from $434,574 to 
$416,551 due to depreciation during the year.    

NACO’s primary revenue resources remain county membership dues, including public lands assessment 
dues and conference fees at $529,899 a decrease of $40,268 compared to prior year amount of $570,167. 
This decrease is the result of a reduction in conference revenues from $73,740 to $24,862 as a result of 
having a virtual conference during the year due to COVID-19.   The remainder of the revenues include a 
contract with the State of Nevada in the amount of $70,000 to administer the Fund for Hospital Care to 
Indigent Persons and national programs and interest income.   

By far, the largest portion of NACO assets continues to be investments in the amount of $641,024. 
Investments during the year decreased $8,329 or 1.3% due to decreases in fair market values of 
investments primarily fixed income investments during the year due to the change in interest rates during 
the year.  See Note 2 Deposits and Investments on page 13 for more information.  At the end of the fiscal 
year, NACO had $567,483 cash or cash equivalents.  NACO’s liabilities for the year ending December 
31, 2020 totaling $732,381.  Of this amount, current liabilities associated with accounts payable were 
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$102,925.  Non-current liabilities include $28,124 attributable to accrued vacation and sick leave for 
employees.  The remaining liability balance of $601,332 was attributable to PERS net pension liability.  
NACO’s net position increased $96,468 during the year from the restated amount of $1,099,171 to 
$1,195,639 demonstrating continued financial strength.   

Economic Factors 
The budget of the Nevada Association of Counties is comprised in part of dues collected from member 
counties.  Dues are calculated using a formula based on three components:  Audited Schedule 1 revenues, 
population, and the amount of the most recent federal Payment in Lieu of Taxes (PILT) payment made to 
each county.  NACO enjoys 100% county participation with 17/17 counties paying their fully assessed 
dues in 2020. During 2021, one of the rural counties left the association and no longer participates in 
NACO.  Any changes in the financial market economy that are reflected in the stock and bond markets 
are reflected in accounts held by NACO.  See Note 2-Deposits and Investments for more details. 

Financial Statement Analysis 
A condensed statement of position is provided below to display the changes in assets, deferred 
outflows, deferred inflows liabilities and net position. 

Restated

Condensed Statements of Net Position 2020 2019 Change

Cash & equivalents 567,483$     751,832$         (184,349)$     

Investments 641,024    649,353  (8,329)  

Interst receivable 1,871   - 1,871

Accounts receivable 137,474    7,935   129,539 

Other assets 6,569   2,309   4,260  

Fixed assets (net) 416,551    434,574  (18,023)  

Land 131,000    131,000  -  

Deferred outflows 164,719    139,209  25,510  

   Total assets and deferred outflows 2,066,691   2,116,212  (49,521)  

-  

Accounts payable 102,925    16,661  86,264  

Accrued expenses -   -  -  

Compensated absences 28,124   20,861  7,263  

Net pension liability 601,332    536,067  65,265  

Deferred inflows 102,171    135,924  (33,753)  

Deferred revenues 36,500   307,528  (271,028)   

Net position - unrestricted 648,088    533,597  114,491    

Net position - invested in capital 547,551    565,574  (18,023)  

  Total  liabilities, deferred inflows and net position 2,066,691$      2,116,212$      (49,521)$       
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The following condensed statement of activities displays changes in the revenues and expense 
accounts when compared to prior year. 

Restated

Condensed Statements of Revenues and Expenses 2020 2019 Change

Revenues:

Membership/ assessments dues and conference fees 529,899$     570,167$         (40,268)$    

Indigent accident and supplemental programs 70,000   70,000  -  

National programs and associate members 21,912   43,670  (21,758)  

Other income 40,772   15,919  24,853  

   Total operating revenues 662,583 699,756 (37,173)

Expenses:

Salaries  and employee benefits 379,629 334,571 45,058

Pension expense 104,424 96,181 8,243

PEBP post retirement benefits 2,089   1,739   350  

Building maintenance, repairs & property tax 10,648   10,642  6   

Utilities 7,058   8,407   (1,349)  

Legislative - 5,518 (5,518)  

Membership conference 3,094   34,086 (30,992)  

Publications and printing 1,825   7,722 (5,897)  

Office and other operating expense 54,177   66,036 (11,859)  

Staff and representative travel 14,261   27,917 (13,656)  

Vehicle expenses 6,550   6,680 (130)  

Professional fees 20,915   20,872 43   

Special projects & studies 2,312   - 2,312

Depreciation and amortization 17,724   17,117  607 

   Total expenses 624,706 637,488 (12,782)

   Operating income 37,877 62,268 (24,391)

Non-operating investment income 58,591   56,547  2,044  

  Total non-operating revenues 58,591   56,547  2,044  

96,468$    118,815$         (22,347)$    Change in net position

Conclusions 
NACO continues to be in a strong financial position showing a net increase of $96,468 in net position at 
the end of the year. Diversified investments and assets, including the office building, provides NACO 
with a high level of financial security and stability. Staff continues to identify opportunities to diversify 
and enhance revenues including; seeking state and federal grant opportunities, and opportunities for 
additional revenue through participation in national programs including the usage of existing agreements 
with Nationwide Retirement Solutions, for which NACO receives a royalty, and seeking other marketing 
and service agreements that would be of benefit to Nevada’s counties. NACO staff works diligently to 
efficiently manage operational expenses.  This summer I will be stepping down as the Executive Director 
to pursue other opportunities. I have enjoyed working with the Commissioners and staff to make a 
positive difference for our membership. 
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This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the financial activity and condition of 
the Nevada Association of Counties, for all of those with an interest in the Association.  Questions 
concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information 
should be addressed to the Executive Director, 304 South Minnesota Street, Carson City, Nevada 89703 
or email at dstapleton@nvnaco.org or access the NACO web-site at NVNACO.ORG.  

Dagny Stapleton 
Executive Director   
July 7, 2021 
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION–PROPRIETARY FUND 
December 31, 2020 and 2019  

Restated
ASSETS 2020 2019
Current assets:
   Cash and cash equivalents 567,483$       751,832$       

Investments 641,024         649,353         
Interest receivable 1,871            - 
Accounts receivable 137,474         7,935            
Other assets 6,569            2,309            
    Total current assets 1,354,421      1,411,429      

Fixed Assets:
Fixed assets net of accumulated depreciation 416,551         434,574         
Land 131,000         131,000         

Total fixed assets 547,551         565,574         
     Total assets 1,901,972    1,977,003    

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
   Deferred pension outflows 164,719         139,209         

   Total deferred outflow of resources 164,719       139,209       

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable 102,925         16,661           
    Total current liabilities 102,925         16,661           

Non-current liabilities:
Compensated absences 28,124           20,861           
PERS net pension liability 601,332         536,067         
      Total  liabilities 732,381       573,589       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred pension inflows 102,171         135,924         
Deferred revenues 36,500           307,528         
   Total deferred inflow of resources 138,671       443,452       

NET POSITION
Unrestricted 648,088         533,597         

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 547,551         565,574         
    Total net position 1,195,639$  1,099,171$  

See accompanying notes 
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES & CHANGES IN NET ASSETS- 
PROPRIETARY FUND 
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

Restated
2020 2019

Revenues 
Membership dues 368,788$      361,491$      
Public lands assessment dues 136,249 134,936
Conference revenues 24,862 73,740
Indigent accident and supplemental programs 70,000 70,000
National programs and associate members 21,912 43,670
Interest income 73 118
Other income 40,699          15,801          

Total  revenues 662,583 699,756

Expenses 
Salaries and employee benefits 379,629        334,571        
Pension expense 104,424        96,181          
PEBP post retirement benefits 2,089           1,739           
Building maintenance, repairs & property tax 10,648          10,642          

Utilities 7,058           8,407           

Legislative - 5,518

Membership Conference 3,094           34,086 

Publications and printing 1,825           7,722

Office and other operating expenses 54,177          66,036 

Staff and representative travel 14,261          27,917 

Vehicle expenses 6,550           6,680           

Professional fees 20,915          20,872          

Special projects and studies 2,312           - 

Depreciation and amortization 17,724 17,117
Total expenses 624,706 637,488

Increase in operating net position 37,877 62,268

58,591 56,547
Increase in net position 96,468 118,815

Net position at beginning of year 1,099,171     980,356
Net position at end of year 1,195,639$ 1,099,171$ 

See accompanying notes 

Non-operating net investment income



11 

NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS–PROPRIETARY FUND 
Years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019  

Restated
2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash receipts 262,315$        951,514$         
Payments to employees (372,366)        (323,362)     
Payments to vendors (141,517)        (272,189)     

Net cash (used)  provided from operating activities (251,568)      355,963    

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of capital assets - (18,165) 
Sale of capital assets 299       -
Sale of securities 488,664 216,797
Purchase of securities (481,247)        (230,647) 

Interest, dividends and net gains or losses on investments 59,503   8,861          
Net cash provided (used) for investing activities 67,219  (23,154)     

(Decrease) increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (184,349) 332,809

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of fiscal year 751,832 419,023
Cash and cash equivalents, end of fiscal year 567,483        751,832    

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash (used) provided from operating activities:
Net operating income 37,877 62,268

Adjustment to reconcile operating income 
    to net  cash (used) provided by operating activities:

Depreciation expense 17,724   17,117        
(Increase) in receivables (129,539)        (1,448)        
(Increase) in interest receivable (1,871)    -       

(Increase) in prepaid expenses (4,260)    (179)  

(Increase) decrease in deferred pension outflows (25,510)  27,214        

Increase in accounts payable and accruals 86,264   2,485          

Increase in accrued salaries - (6,343)

Increase in compensated absences 7,263     11,209 

Increase (decrease) in PERS net pension liability 65,265   (25,202) 

(Decrease) increase  in deferred revenues (271,028)        253,206

(Decrease) increase in deferred pension  inflows (33,753)  15,636        
Net cash (used)  provided  by operating activities (251,568)$    355,963$       

See accompanying notes 
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Nature of Activities: 
The Association (NACO) is a non-profit corporation incorporated in the state of Nevada.  The 
Association was organized for the purpose of aiding member counties in the conduct of general 
governmental affairs and to influence the state legislature in ways that will benefit county governments 
and the people they serve. NACO is treated as a governmental entity for accounting and presentation 
purposes. The Association members are elected officials of various counties in Nevada that they 
represent. As such, the Association is considered a quasi-governmental organization. The Association is 
more commonly known as the Nevada Association of Counties or as NACO. 

Basis of Presentation, Measurement Focus – Basis of Accounting: 
NACO has prepared its financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America for governmental entities.  NACO has implemented Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements - and Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local Governments. 

The financial statements are reported using the economic resources management focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of the timing of cash flows.  Expenditures are recorded when the related fund 
liability is incurred. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Cash & Investments: 
For purposes of the cash flow statements, NACO considers highly liquid asset accounts available for 
current use within three months or less to be cash equivalents.  NACO maintains its cash, cash 
equivalents and investments in a commercial bank and a brokerage institution.  All amounts in the 
commercial bank are insured by the FDIC or collateralized. Amounts at the brokerage firm up to the SPIC 
insurance limit are insured through SPIC and additional amounts are insured by the broker through an 
insurance policy. 

Investments consist of marketable securities in corporate and governmental securities.  Securities are 
reported at their fair value on the balance sheet. Fair value is determined utilizing the market value of the 
investments as reflected on the applicable brokerage statements. Net increases and decreases in the fair 
value are included in the statement of revenues and expenses and changes in net asset balances.  

Accounts Receivable: 
Accounts receivable represents amounts earned but not received on the performance of the Indigent 
Accident Fund grant, the Supplemental grant, and other miscellaneous receivables. In 2020, receivables 
included $120,952 of funds to be reimbursed to NACO for small business grants paid as part of funding 
from the CARES Act to assist small businesses that have been distressed by the pandemic. 
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Fixed Assets: 
Equipment on the books is depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line 
method and the lives assigned to assets range from 5 years to 10 years. Building improvements are 
depreciated over a period of 20 years and the office building cost is depreciated using the straight-line 
method over a period of 40 years with no salvage value. 

Compensated Absences: 
Compensated absences are recorded when the liabilities are incurred.  Accumulated benefits are limited to 
a set maximum. 

Revenues: 
Revenues are provided through membership fees, sponsor and conference fees, administration of the 
state's Indigent Accident Fund and Supplemental Fund, national insurance programs, other programs  
and investment income.  NACO receives grants and contracts with a private vendor to administer the 
grants on behalf of NACO for the benefit of its members.   

Federal Income Tax: 
NACO is exempt from income taxes under section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Service Code. Tax 
returns for the years ending December 31, 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017 are open to audit by the 
Internal Revenue Service. 

NOTE 2- DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

NACO, as allowed, maintains its cash, cash equivalents and investments in a commercial bank and a 
brokerage institution.  Amounts in commercial banks are insured by the FDIC for balances up to 
$250,000.    Amounts at the brokerage firm are insured through SPIC and additional amounts are insured 
by the broker through an insurance policy. 

The carrying amount of NACO’s deposits at commercial banks on December 31, 2020 and 2019 was 
$567,483 and $751,832 respectively and the bank balance was $569,197 and $751,965.  The difference 
between the carrying amount and bank balance results from outstanding checks and deposits not yet 
reflected in the bank’s records.  

Deposits that are greater than the FDIC insurance limit were $128,764 in 2020 and $376,596 in 2019.  
When there are balances in excess of FDIC insurance, they are collateralized with securities held by the 
State Treasurer's agent in the name of the State Treasurer. 

Credit risk: 
Credit risk is the risk of default on a debt security that may arise from an issuer failing to make required 
interest or principal payments such that NACO will not be able to recover the full interest and principal 
value of those investments or securities.   
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 

Concentration of Financial Risk:   
NACO’s investment managers limit investments in equities of any one issuer to 10% of the total 
investment portfolio. There are no concentrations limits on any industry, but the investment managers 
diversify the portfolio over various industries.  

Interest Rate Risk: 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. NACO’s policy for managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing  
interest rates are to be invested in a range of 50% to 100% in fixed income securities, 0% -50% in equities 
and 0% to 100% in cash.   

A summary of investments as of December 31, 2020:

Investment Maturities in Years

Fair Value 1 year or less 1-5 5-10 Over 10

U.S. Treasuries 75,849$    5,019$       32,646$     38,184$       -$      

U.S. Government & Agencies 13,748  - 13,748 -  -    

U.S. Mortgage-backed securities 173,629  791  71,340 68,458    33,040    

Corporate bonds 133,210  - 89,479 43,731    -    

Equity securities 244,588  244,588  -  -  -    

  Total cash and investments 641,024$    250,398$     207,213$    150,373$     33,040$      

A summary of investments as of December 31, 2019:

Investment Maturities in Years

Fair Value 1 year of less 1-5 5-10 Over 10

U.S. Treasuries 80,723$    -$   27,979$    52,744$       -$      

U.S. Government & Agencies 12,221  - 12,221 -  -    

U.S. Mortgage-backed securities 207,034  - 93,561 78,769    34,704    

Corporate bonds 149,536  7,001    89,274 53,261    -    

Equity securities 199,839  199,839  -  -  -    

  Total cash and investments 649,353$    206,840$     223,035$    184,774$     34,704$      

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities as some borrowers have the right to call or repay 
with or without call or prepayment penalties. Investments are reported at fair value by the investment 
broker as determined by an outside pricing firm. Corporate bonds are rated by S&P as AAA to A-. 
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

NOTE 3 – CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION 

Depreciation is taken on the financial statements over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the 
straight-line method. It is believed by management that the useful lives of furniture, equipment and 
vehicles range from five to ten years with no salvage value. NACO's policy is to capitalize assets costing 
$5,000 or more. For buildings, the useful life is deemed to be 40 years with no salvage value. When assets 
are disposed of the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the general ledger and 
any resulting gain or loss is recognized in operations. 

Activity for the years ended December 31 was as follows:

Useful 
life  

  December 31, 
2019  Additions Dispositions 

  December 31, 
2020

Building and improvements 40  $   556,382  $  - $ - $  556,382 

Furniture and equipment 5 – 10  174,360 - (299)  174,061 

Vehicles 5 – 10   32,878 - -  32,878 

Total Assets  763,620 - (299)  763,321 

Accumulated depreciation  (329,046)  (17,724) - (346,770)

 $   434,574  $   (17,724)  $  (299) $  416,551 

  December 31, 
2018  Additions Dispositions 

  December 31, 
2019

Building and improvements 40  $   538,217  $   18,165  $  - $  556,382 

Furniture and equipment 5 – 10  174,360  - -  174,360 

Vehicles 5 – 10   32,878  - -  32,878 

Total Assets  745,455  18,165 - 763,620 

Accumulated depreciation  (311,929)  (17,117) - (329,046)

 $   433,526  $   1,048  $  - $  434,574 

Depreciaton expense was charged $17,724 and $17,117 for years 2020 and 2019.

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Various directors of NACO also serve on the board of the Indigent Accident Fund, an agency that 
contracts with NACO for claims administration. Revenues of $70,000 in 2020 and 2019 from these 
contracts are identified on the financial statements as Indigent Accident and Supplemental Programs.   
Mr. Wayne Carlson, executive director of the Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool, is authorized to sign 
checks of NACO in the absence of NACO's executive director with one other NACO authorized signer.  
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

NACO contracted with Nevada Risk Pooling Inc. (NRP) for bookkeeping services and paid fees of 
$12,000 and $6,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.  In 2019 NACO contacted with 
and paid PARMS $6,000 for the first half of the year.  Nevada Risk Polling was formed and became 
operational July 1, 2019 for the purpose of assuming the responsibilities of PARMS and thereby provided 
bookkeeping services to NACO and other organizations.  Nevada Risk Pooling, Inc.is a non-profit 
organization servicing the same government organizations as PARMS had in the past. 

NOTE 5 – LEASES 

In January of 2016 NACO entered into a lease agreement with Sierra Office Solutions for a high-speed 
copy machine. The copier lease is classified as an operating lease with minimum monthly payment of 
$232.53 for 60 months. The lease term has been completed and payments are made for the continued use 
of the copier on a month-to-month basis. The amount charged to expense for 2020 and 2019 was $2,790 
for each year. 

NOTE 6 –DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION COST-SHARING EMPLOYER PLANS 

Defined Benefit Plan Description 
PERS administers a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit pension plan, which includes 
both Regular and Police/Fire members.  The System was established by the Nevada Legislature in 
1947, effective July 1, 1948. The System is administered to provide a reasonable base income to 
qualified employees who have been employed by a public employer and whose earning capacities 
have been removed or substantially impaired by age or disability. 

Benefits Provided 
Benefits, as required by the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS or statute), are determined by the number of 
years of accredited service at time of retirement and the member’s highest average compensation in any 
36 consecutive months with special provisions for members entering the System on or after January 1, 
2010, and July 1, 2015.  Benefit payments to which participants or their beneficiaries may be entitled 
under the plan include pension benefits, disability benefits, and survivor benefits. 

Monthly benefit allowances for members are computed as 2.50% of average compensation for each 
accredited year of service prior to July 1, 2001.  For service earned on and after July 1, 2001, this factor is 
2.67% of average compensation.  For members entering the System on or after January 1, 2010, there is a 
2.50% service time factor and for regular members entering the System on or after July 1, 2015, there is a 
2.25% factor. The System offers several alternatives to the unmodified service retirement allowance 
which, in general, allow the retired employee to accept a reduced service retirement allowance payable 
monthly during his or her lifetime and various optional monthly payments to a named beneficiary after his 
or her death. Post-retirement increases are provided by authority of NRS 286.575 -579. 
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

NOTE 6 –DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION COST-SHARING EMPLOYER PLAN (continued) 

Vesting 
Regular members entering the System prior to January 1, 2010, are eligible for retirement at age 65 with 5 
years of service, at age 60 with 10 years of service, or at any age with 30 years of service. Regular 
members entering the System on or after January 1, 2010, are eligible for retirement at age 65 with 5 
years of service, or age 62 with 10 years of service, or any age with 30 years of service. Regular members 
who entered the System on or after July 1, 2015, are eligible for retirement at age 65 with 5 years of 
service, or at age 62 with 10 years of service, or at age 55 with 30 years of service, or any age with 33 1/3 
years of service. 

The normal ceiling limitation on monthly benefit allowances is 75% of average compensation.  However, 
a member who has an effective date of membership before July 1, 1985, is entitled to a benefit of up to 
90% of average compensation.  Members become fully vested as to benefits upon completion of five 
years of service. 

Contributions 
The authority for establishing and amending the obligation to make contributions and member 
contribution rates is set by statute. New hires, in agencies which did not elect the Employer-Pay 
Contribution (EPC) plan prior to July 1, 1983, have the option of selecting one of two contribution plans. 
In one plan, contributions are shared equally by employer and employee.  In the other plan, employees 
can take a reduced salary and have contributions made by the employer (EPC). 

The System’s basic funding policy provides for periodic contributions at a level pattern of cost as a 
percentage of salary throughout an employee’s working lifetime in order to accumulate sufficient assets to 
pay benefits when due. 

The System receives an actuarial valuation on an annual basis indicating the contribution rates required to 
fund the System on an actuarial reserve basis. Contributions made are in accordance with the required 
rates established by the Nevada Legislature.  These statutory rates are increased/decreased pursuant to 
NRS 286.421 and 286.450.  The contribution rate for NACO was 29.25% for 2020 and was split between 
28% for the first six months of 2020 and 29.25% for the last six months. 

The actuarial funding method used is the Entry Age Normal Cost Method. It is intended to meet the 
funding objective and results in a relatively level long-term contribution requirement as a percentage of 
salary. 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the contributions recognized as part of pension expense for the 
Plan were as follows:  

    Contributions - employer $98,422
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

NOTE 6 –DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION COST-SHARING EMPLOYER PLAN (continued) 

B. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources
Related to Pensions

As of the valuation date of June 30, 2020, NACO reported net pension liabilities for its proportionate 
shares of the net pension liability of the Plan as follows: 

Proportionate 
share of Net 

pension Liability

  Miscellaneous plan $601,332

NACO’s net pension liability for the Plan is measured as the proportionate share of the net pension 
liability.  The net pension liability of the Plan is measured as of June 30, 2020, and the total pension 
liability for the Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as 
of June 30, 2020 rolled forward to December 31, 2020 using standard update procedures. 

NACO’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of the NACO ‘s long-term 
share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating 
employers, actuarially determined.  

June 30, 2019 0.00393%
June 30, 2020 0.00432%
Change-Increase (decrease) 0.00039%

For the year ended December 31, 2020, NACO recognized a pension expense of $104,424.

The Board’s proportionate share of the net pension liability as of June 30, 2019 and 2020 was as 
follows:

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources

-$     (7,697)$       

Changes in assumptions (4,925)        -    

(1,419) (3,951)   

121,852   113,819       

49,211     -    
Total 164,719$      102,171$          

NACO contributions subsequent to the measurement

Differences between expected and actual experience

Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments
Changes in proportion and differences between NACO
contributions and proportionate share of contributions
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

NOTE 6 –DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION COST-SHARING EMPLOYER PLAN (continued) 

$49,211 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions to NVPERS subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended 
December 31, 2020.   

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions without regard to contributions subsequent to the measurement date, are expected to be 
recognized as pension expense as follows:  

Measurement 
Period Ended June 

30:

2021 (9,514)$    
2022 4,734  
2023 5,467  
2024 3,825  
2025 546  
2026 8,279  

Thereafter -    

13,337$   

Actuarial Assumptions – The total pension liabilities in the June 30,2020 actuarial valuations were 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions: 

Miscellaneous

Valuation date June 30, 2020
Measurement date June 30, 2020
Actuarial Cost Method Entry -Age Normal Cost
Actuarial Assumptions:

Inflation 2.75%
Projected salary increase 4.25-9.15%
Productivity pay increases 0.50%
Investment rate of return 7.50%

The underlying mortality assumptions and all other actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2020 
valuation were based on the results of the experience review completed in 2020. Further details of the 
Experience Study can be found on the PERS website. 

Discount Rate – The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5% as of June 30,  
2020. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee and 
employer contributions will be made at the rate specified in statute. Based on that assumption, the pension  
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

NOTE 6 –DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION COST-SHARING EMPLOYER PLAN (continued) 

plan’s fiduciary net position on June 30, 2020 was projected to be available to make all projected future 
benefit payments of currently active and inactive employees.  

Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of 
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability as of June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019. 

The System’s Investment Objectives and Policies detail the fund’s long-term investment goals, 
management responsibilities, return/risk expectations, and monitoring requirements. These policies are 
subject to change at any time by the Board and are reviewed thoroughly at least annually to ensure that 
they continue to reflect the System’s expectations. 

Target Long-Term Geometric
Asset Class Allocation Expected Real Rate of Return*

Domestic Equity 42% 5.50%
International Equity 18% 5.50%
Domestic Fixed Income 28% 0.75%
Private Markets 12% 6.65%

*As of June 30, 2020, PERS' long-term inflation assumption was 2.75%

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate – 
The following presents the net pension liability of the PERS as of June 30, 2020, calculated using the 
discount rate of 7.50%, as well as what the PERS net pension liability would be if it were calculated using 
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.50%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.50%) than the 
current discount rate: 

Discount rate -1% 
(6.5%)

Current 
Discount Rate 

(7.5%)
Discount Rate 
+1% (8.5%)

Misc. Tier1 $938,426 $601,332 $321,745

Additional information supporting the Schedule of Employer Allocations and the Schedule of Pension 
Amounts by Employer is in the PERS Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) available on the 
PERS website. 
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 

NOTE 7 – DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  

NACO offers a defined contribution plan in accordance with IRS code section 457(b) to its employees. 
Employee contributions are voluntary and are made on a pre-tax basis.  Employer contributions are 
discretionary and for 2020 and 2019 the organization elected to not make any contributions. Employees 
contributed $13,750 and $13,000 for the years ended 2020 and 2019. NACO Services, a subsidiary of the 
National Association of Counties, sponsors the deferred compensation program, which is administered by 
Nationwide Retirement Solutions. 

NOTE 8 – RISK MANAGEMENT 

NACO has joined with other public agencies in Nevada to be part of the Nevada Public Agency Insurance 
Pool (NPAIP) under the Nevada Interlocal Cooperation Act throughout the State of Nevada to manage 
various risks. NPAIP is an intergovernmental public entity risk pool currently operating as a common risk 
management and insurance program for its members.  

 NACO pays an annual premium and specific deductibles, as necessary, to NPAIP for its general 
insurance coverage.  NPAIP is considered a self-sustaining risk pool that will provide liability coverage 
for its members up to $10,000,000 per event and a $10,000,000 annual aggregate per member. Property, 
crime and equipment breakdown is provided to its members up to $300,000,000 per loss with various 
sub-limits established for earthquake, flood, equipment breakdown and money and securities. There has 
been no claims made for the year 2020 and one claim of $1,147 incurred in 2019 which has been paid.   

NACO has also joined the Public Agency Compensation Trust (PACT) which is an intergovernmental 
self-insured association in Nevada for workers compensation insurance. 

If claims and expenses exceed net assets of the NPAIP or PACT, a special assessment may be made to 
their members. 

NOTE 9 – RESTATED PRIOR PERIOD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Pension expense reported in 2019 in the prior year was understated by $39,079 and deferred inflows of 
resources were overstated by the same amount.  This accounting error was corrected in the restatement of 
the prior year amounts. 

NOTE 10 –SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

In preparing these financial statements, management has evaluated events and transactions for potential 
recognition or disclosure within the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
Management has evaluated subsequent events through July 7,2021 which is the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued.   
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NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION – BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARISON 
December 31, 2020  

Favorable
Original Final (Unfavorable)
Budget Budget Actual Variance

OPERATING REVENUES:

Membership dues 593,038$    593,038$    368,788$  (224,250)$  
Public lands assessment dues -        -          136,249      136,249   
Conference fees -        -          24,862   24,862     
Indigent accident and supplemental programs 70,000        70,000  70,000   -   
National programs and associate sponsors 28,978        28,978  21,912   (7,066)      
Interest income 15,000        15,000  73         (14,927)    
Other income -        -          40,699   40,699     
   Total operating revenues 707,016 707,016 662,583 (44,433)

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Salaries  and employee benefits 466,014      466,014      379,629      86,385
Pension expense 1,700  1,700    104,424      (102,724)
PEBP post retirement benefits -        -          2,089     (2,089)
Building maintenance, repairs & property tax 27,000        27,000  10,648   16,352
Utilities -        -          7,058     (7,058)      
Legislative 7,000  7,000    - 7,000 
Membership conference 45,000        45,000  3,094     41,906
Publications and printing 4,160  4,160    1,825     2,335
Office and other operating expense 76,104        76,104  54,177   21,927
Staff and representative travel 37,000        37,000  14,261   22,739
Vehicle expenses 3,000  3,000    6,550     (3,550)
Professional fees 15,500        15,500  20,915   (5,415)
Special projects and studies 15,000        15,000  2,312     12,688
Depreciation and amortization -        -          17,724   (17,724) 
   Total expenses 697,478 697,478 624,706 72,772

   Operating income 9,538 9,538 37,877 28,339

NON-OPERATING REVENUES 

Increase in non-operating investment income -        -          58,591 58,591     
  Total non-operating revenues -        -          58,591 58,591

Increase in  Net Position 9,538$      9,538$      96,468$  86,930$     

See accompanying notes 
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          NEVADA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.00381%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability 
(asset) $639,269 $436,508

Covered payroll $287,689 $228,334

Proportionate share of the net position liability 
(asset) as a percentage of its covered payroll 198.79% 191.59% 195.57% 215.31% 222.21% 191.17%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total pension liability 77.0% 76.5% 75.1% 74.5% 75.1% 75.1%

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

$80,553 $58,796

($88,478) ($78,346) ($80,357) ($84,999) ($80,553) ($58,796)

$0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

$302,489 $279,805 $286,989 $303,568 $287,689 $228,334

29.25% 28.00% 28.00% 28.00% 28.00% 25.75%

See accompanying notes 

Contribution as a percentage of covered employee 
payroll

$78,346

SCHEDULES OF CONTRIBUTIONS LAST TEN YEARS

Contractually required contribution

Contributions in relation to the contractually required 
contribution

Contribution deficiency (excess)

NACO's covered employee payroll

$80,357 $84,999

0.00475%

Measurement Dates

 SUPPLEMENTARY PENSION INFORMATION
For Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

$536,067

0.00393%

$279,805

SCHEDULES OF NACO'S  PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY LAST TEN YEARS

0.00412% 0.00491%

$561,269 $653,604

$286,989 $303,568

0.00432%

$601,332

$302,489

$88,478



Nevada Association of Counties
Balance Sheet
June 30, 2021

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash - NV State Bank 619,557.90$              
Money Market 110,807.86
Accounts Receivable 153,762.00

Total Current Assets 884,127.76

Property and Equipment
Office Equipment 174,059.50
Building 447,906.18
Land 131,000.00
Building Improvements 108,476.78
Fixed Assets - Vehicle 32,878.25
Accumulated Depreciation (346,770.16)

Total Property and Equipment 547,550.55

Other Assets
Investments 661,511.49
Investments - Cash Equivalents 92,653.23
Investments Interest Receivable 1,747.34
Investments Trades Receivable 2.56
DEFFERRED OUTFLOWS 164,719.00

Total Other Assets 920,633.62

Total Assets 2,352,311.93$           

LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL

Current Liabilities
Accrued Payroll Benefits 28,124.46$  
PERS Pension Liability 601,332.00
DEFERRED INFLOWS 102,171.00

Total Current Liabilities 731,627.46

Long-Term Liabilities

Total Long-Term Liabilities 0.00

Total Liabilities 731,627.46

Capital
Retained Earnings 1,195,639.22
Net Income 425,045.25

Total Capital 1,620,684.47

Total Liabilities & Capital 2,352,311.93$           

7/22/2021 at 9:40 AM Unaudited - For Management Purposes Only

Agenda Item 9



Nevada Association of Counties
Income Statement/Budget

For the Six Months Ending June 30, 2021

Current Month Year to Date Budget Y-T-D % Budget
Revenues
Membership Dues 0.00 374,615.00 374,615.00 100.0%
Public Lands Assessment Dues 0.00 139,346.00 139,344.00 100.0%
Conference Revenues 2,950.00 6,950.00 80,000.00 8.7%
IAF/Supplemental Funds 0.00 35,000.00 70,000.00 50.0%
County Small Business Grant Program 0.00 120,952.27
Interest Income 0.91 18.16 15,000.00 0.1%
National Programs 0.00 2,469.63 2,500.00 98.8%
Associate Memberships 0.00 937.50 18,000.00 5.2%
Unrealized Gain/(Loss)-Investments 4,891.47 33,389.13 0.00

Total Revenues 7,842.38 713,677.69 699,459.00 102.0%

Expenses
Salaries 26,709.98 165,059.88 334,750.00 49.3%
Retirement: PERS 15,063.74 45,191.22 98,751.00 45.8%
Employee Health Insurance/Life 8,195.44 26,208.91 33,000.00 79.4%
FICA, ESD, and Medicare Expense 527.18 4,043.52 7,500.00 53.9%
Audit 0.00 0.00 8,500.00 0.0%
Board Meetings 38.63 294.45 7,500.00 3.9%
Building Capital Projects 0.00 0.00 6,000.00 0.0%
Building Operating Expenses 4,039.44 9,987.28 19,000.00 52.6%
Conference Expenses 0.00 0.00 38,000.00 0.0%
County Leadership Institute 0.00 0.00 3,200.00 0.0%
Depreciation Expense 0.00 0.00
Donations/Sponsorships 0.00 0.00 1,500.00 0.0%
Equipmnet Lease & Maintenance 220.71 1,465.88 4,500.00 32.6%
Equipment Purchases 0.00 4,262.50 4,500.00 94.7%
IT Support 0.00 262.50 2,500.00 10.5%
Internet Service 799.00 4,829.94 9,000.00 53.7%
Legislative Expense 0.00 1,949.80 15,000.00 13.0%
Liability & Auto Insurance 364.88 2,443.63 5,500.00 44.4%
Management Consultant & Training 0.00 0.00
Member Services 0.00 54.40 3,000.00 1.8%
Office Supplies 336.60 2,090.71 3,500.00 59.7%
PEHB Liability 188.26 1,129.56 6,000.00 18.8%
Postage 0.00 269.55 500.00 53.9%
Printing 0.00 0.00 500.00 0.0%
Professional Fees 283.62 6,463.37 15,500.00 41.7%
Property Taxes 0.00 0.00
Publications, Dues, Registrations 676.00 1,477.22 3,660.00 40.4%
Recruiting & Advertising 0.00 0.00
Representative Travel 0.00 3,515.00 17,000.00 20.7%
Special Studies/Litigation 0.00 3,000.00 15,000.00 20.0%
Actuarial Study Medicaid Match 0.00 0.00
Staff Travel 0.00 793.71 20,000.00 4.0%
Telephone 682.83 2,763.05 6,000.00 46.1%
Vehicle Registration Maintenance 0.00 0.00 3,000.00 0.0%
Web-based Hosting & Subscription Software 82.40 1,076.36 5,000.00 21.5%
WIR Dues 0.00 0.00 9,000.00 0.0%

Total Expenses 58,208.71 288,632.44 706,361.00 40.9%

Net Income (50,366.33)       425,045.25  (6,902.00)   

7/22/2021 at 9:40 AM Page: 2For Management Purposes Only



Cash and Fixed Income Summary
Risk Metric Value

Cash 2.56

MMFund 124,053.91

Fixed Income 352,428.21

Duration 2.369

Convexity 0.144

WAL 2.609

Years to Final Maturity 3.596

Years to Effective Maturity 2.608

Yield 0.562

Book Yield 1.828

Avg Credit Rating AA/Aa2/AA

Security Type DurationBalance Sheet

Book Value + Accrued 658,702.92

Net Unrealized Gain/Loss 97,211.68

Market Value + Accrued 755,914.59

Market Sector Issuer Concentration
Issuer % of Market Value +

Accrued

Other 31.070%

First American Funds, Inc. - Government Obligations Fund 16.411%

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 9.812%

Vanguard Index Funds - Vanguard Mid-Cap ETF 9.294%

United States Department of The Treasury 9.142%

Vanguard Index Funds - Vanguard Large-Cap ETF 9.003%

Vanguard Index Funds - Vanguard Small-Cap ETF 7.987%

Vanguard Index Funds - Vanguard Total Stock Market ETF 7.281%

--- 100.000%

Footnotes: 1,2

Account Review Moreton-NACO 
06/30/2021 - 06/30/2021 Dated: 07/09/2021
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1: * Grouped by: Issuer.     2: * Groups Sorted by: % of Market Value + Accrued.

Account Review Moreton-NACO 
06/30/2021 - 06/30/2021 Dated: 07/09/2021
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This report of your portfolio holdings with Moreton Asset Management, LLC, (Moreton) should not be relied upon for auditing or tax purposes. Although the information provided has been obtained from sources believed to be
reliable, its accuracy is not guaranteed. You should receive annual tax information from the custodian of record. Such information should be used for your tax return.

Securities prices may differ from actual liquidation value. Prices listed herein should be used only as a general guide to the portfolio's actual value. Prices are received from various pricing sources. Moreton is not responsible
for any clerical or computational errors that may result from using pricing or other data from outside sources. In some cases, the report may reflect positions held in custody outside of the custodian of record for your accounts.
Moreton uses settle-date accounting.

Management fees used to calculate the rates of return for the statement period include all administrative, management, and trading services rendered during the statement period, and are reflected in the Summary
Performance calculations. These fees are accrued during the statement period and are charged to client accounts at the beginning of the following month. The returns shown are actual and are not annualized.

The custodian of record is required by law to provide separate account statements on at least a quarterly basis. Market values reflected in the custodian's statement and those cited in this report may differ due to the use of
different pricing and reporting methods. If any discrepancies are found between the custody statement and this report, the custody statement will serve as the statement of record.

Performance returns include cash and cash equivalents and reflect the reinvestment of dividends, interest and other earnings based on the elections of the underlying client accounts. Performance is presented both before
(gross) and after (net) the deduction of Moreton's fees and any applicable transaction costs. Performance is calculated on a settlement date basis and annual rates of return are calculated by linking monthly returns.

Benchmarks are provided for informational purposes only. Indexes are unmanaged and individuals cannot invest directly in the indexes referenced here.

Past performance is not indicative of future results. Different asset classes and types of investments include varying degrees of risk and therefore, no assurances are given that any specific investment will be profitable for the
portfolio. Performance results for individual client portfolios will vary due to factors such as the timing of investments, contributions/withdrawals of funds, diversification, length of relationship, and size of positions. If you have
any questions about your Moreton portfolio, please contact your portfolio manager. They can be reached at 801-869-4200 or at Team@MoretonAdvisors.com



RCI Client 

CARSON CITY 
340 North Minnesota St. 
Carson City, NV 89703-4152 
(775) 883-1600  •  fax: (775) 883-1656 

LAKE TAHOE 
276 Kingsbury Grade, Ste. 206, Stateline, NV 
PO Box 11796, Zephyr Cove, NV 89448-3796 

(775) 588-7500  •  fax: (775) 589-6333 

Engineering • Surveying • Water Rights 
Resources & Environmental Services 

www.rci-nv.com 

(rev 2020March10) Short-Form PSA – Page 1 of 2 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. CLIENT retains Resource Concepts, Inc. (RCI) to perform professional services. RCI’s Scope of Services defines
the “PROJECT.”

2. The PROJECT is located in Carson City, NV, and will be known as NACO - On-Call Public Lands and Natural
Resources Services 2021.

3. The duties and responsibilities of RCI are described in the Scope of Services, which is attached to and made a
part of this Agreement. In providing services under this Agreement, RCI shall perform in a manner consistent
with that degree of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the same profession currently practicing
under similar circumstances at the same time and in the same or similar locality. RCI shall not be responsible for
job site safety, nor means, methods, techniques and sequences of construction.

4. The cost of services under the Assignment will be accomplished on a “Time and Materials” basis, as determined
by the RCI Fee Schedule attached to and made a part of this Agreement.

5. Additional professional services related to this Assignment will be performed by RCI at the request of CLIENT for an 
additional professional fee as determined by the RCI Fee Schedule then in effect. Such additional services will be
attached to and made part of this Agreement by Additional Services Addendums, signed and dated by both parties.

6. CLIENT shall designate a person to act as CLIENT’s representative with respect to services to be rendered under
this Agreement. Such representative shall have complete authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters
concerning the PROJECT.

7. CLIENT shall provide to RCI all existing data, plans, reports and other information known to, in possession of, or under 
control of CLIENT which are relevant to the execution of RCI’s duties on the PROJECT and coordinate other available 
data and services of others pertinent to the PROJECT.  The CLIENT will also provide all criteria and full information as 
to CLIENT’s requirements for the PROJECT, including design criteria, objectives and constraints, space, capacity and 
performance requirements, flexibility and expandability, and any budgetary limitations.  RCI shall be entitled to rely 
upon all such information and services in performing its services under this Agreement.

8. CLIENT shall compensate RCI for services performed. Invoices will be submitted for payment monthly. Invoices
are due upon presentation and are past due thirty (30) days from invoice date. Past due accounts are subject to
one and one-half percent (1-1/2%) service charge per month, or the maximum allowed by law. Time and
expenses incurred (including attorney’s fees and collection costs) will be added to the total amount due.
Payment on delinquent invoices will first be applied to accrued interest and then to the principal amount. If
CLIENT objects to all or any portion of invoice, CLIENT will so notify RCI in writing fourteen (14) calendar days of
the invoice date, identify the cause of disagreement, and pay that portion of the invoice not in dispute. The
parties will immediately make every effort to settle the disputed portion of the invoice.

9. CLIENT agrees to limit liability for claims arising out of performance of the services described in this Agreement.
It is agreed the aggregate liability of RCI will not exceed the greater of its fees or $10,000 for negligent
professional acts, errors, or omissions, including attorney’s fees and costs which may be awarded to the
prevailing party. CLIENT agrees to indemnify and hold harmless RCI from and against all liability in excess of the
monetary limit established above.

10. RCI and CLIENT shall endeavor to resolve a Dispute by negotiation. If negotiations are unsuccessful, RCI and CLIENT 
shall, at the request of either, attempt to mediate the Dispute before a mutually acceptable mediator in Carson City, 
Nevada. In the event the Dispute is not successfully mediated, both RCI and CLIENT agree to submit the Dispute to 
litigation in the court of competent jurisdiction.

11. Services under this Agreement may be terminated by either party, CLIENT or RCI, with or without cause upon
seven (7) days written notice (delivery by certified mail, return receipt requested) of intent to terminate.  In the
event of any termination, RCI will be compensated for all services rendered and reimbursable expenses accrued
to the date of receipt of the notice of termination, including any termination expenses, prior to the release of
any documents prepared by RCI.
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RCI Client 

Client/Project Name: 
NACO – On-call Public Lands and Natural 
Resources Services 2021 RCI Project #: 21-000.0 Date: July 29, 2021 

PSA Cost Estimate: $36,000.00 Not to Exceed Dollar Amount 

(rev 2020March10) Short-Form PSA – Page 2 of 2 
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Client Name: Nevada Association of Counties 
Billing 
Contact Name: Amanda Evans Title: Office Manager 

Billing Address: 304 S. Minnesota Street City: Carson City State: NV Zip: 89703 

Ph #: (775) 883-7863 Cell #:  Email: aevens@nvnaco.org 

Billing Invoice Preference: ☒  Email ☐ USPS     (choose one or both) 

Authorized By: 
(Signature) Title: Date: 

☐ Same as Client billing contact Info. 
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Contact Name: 

Dagny Stapleton / 
Vinson Guthreau Title: 

Executive Director / 
Deputy Director 

Contact Address: 304 S. Minnesota Street City: Carson City State: NV Zip: 89703 

Ph #: (775) 883-7863 Cell #: Email: 
dstapleton@nvnaco.org 
vguthreau@nvnaco.org 

RC
I 

RCI Principal: 
(Signature) 

Name
& Title: Jeremy Drew, Principal Date: July 21. 2021 

RCI Project 
Manager: Jeremy Drew Ph#: (775) 883-1600 Email: jeremy@rci-nv.com 
RCI 
Address: 340 N. Minnesota St., Carson City NV 89703-4152 Ph#: (775) 883-1600 Web Site: www.rci-nv.com 

Scope of Services: Coordinate with the Nevada Association of Counties (NACO) through its designated point(s) of 
contact.  Communicate with the Board, Public Lands and Natural Resources Committee (PLNR) and other 
appropriate entities as needed.  Standard communications would include, but not be limited to: 

• In-person, telephonic and/or virtual attendance at Board meetings as necessary / requested.
• Monthly in-person or virtual attendance at PLNR meetings.
• Other meetings that RCI may attend to keep up on items of NACO interest:

o Interim Legislative Committee on Natural Resources;
o Nevada Sagebrush Ecosystem Council; and,
o Project or program specific meetings of interest held by: BLM, Forest Service, or other pertinent

Federal or State entities.

Deliverables:  
• Attendance (in-person, telephonic or virtual) at all meetings as appropriate.
• Support materials for any meetings or presentations requested, provided in a timely fashion to comply with

Nevada Open Meeting Law.
• A written, email, or verbal summary of any meetings attended with entities other than the NACO as well as

any pertinent information or handouts from such meetings.
• Support with the NACO Annual Conference, specifically related to the PLNR Workshop.
• Copies of all formal written correspondence or comment provided to federal or state planning or project

matters.
• Monthly progress report, budget summary and invoices for all active Task Order Amendments.

Budget: Time and Materials per RCI Fee Schedule (attached), not to exceed $36,000.00 

Contract Term: July 29, 2021 to December 31, 2021  

mailto:dstapleton@nvnaco.org
mailto:vguthreau@nvnaco.org


Billing Rate ($) 

RCI Fee Schedule Page 1 of 3 RCI  Client 

2020 FEE SCHEDULE 

 

Terms of Payment:  Invoices are due upon presentation and are past due thirty (30) days from invoice date. Past due accounts are subject to one and one-half percent (1½ %) service charge 
per month, or the maximum allowed by law. Payment on delinquent invoices will first be applied to accrued interest and then to the principal amount. Time and expenses incurred (including 
any attorney’s fees and collection costs) will be added to the total amount due. RCI accepts credit card payments, subject to a 3% convenience fee. 

This confidential information is intended only for the use of Nevada Association of Counties (NACO) – On-call Services 7-29 thru 12-31 2021 and is valid for the attached 
proposal for professional services dated July 29, 2021. This information should not be distributed without the written authorization of RCI. 

Effective:  January 2020 

CARSON CITY 
340 North Minnesota St. 
Carson City, NV 89703-4152 
(775) 883-1600  •  fax: (775) 883-1656 

LAKE TAHOE 
276 Kingsbury Grade, Ste. 206, Stateline, NV 
PO Box 11796, Zephyr Cove, NV 89448-3796 

(775) 588-7500  •  fax: (775) 589-6333 

Engineering • Surveying • Water Rights 
Resources & Environmental Services 

www.rci-nv.com 

ENVIRONMENTAL Principal Environmental Specialist ........................................... 190.00 
SERVICES Certified Environmental Manager ............................................ 170.00 

Environmental Project Manager .............................................. 160.00 
Senior Environmental Specialist II ............................................ 145.00 
Senior Environmental Specialist I ............................................. 135.00 
Environmental Specialist II ....................................................... 115.00 
Environmental Specialist I ........................................................ 105.00 
Environmental Technician II 1/ .................................................... 90.00 
Environmental Technician I 1/..................................................... 80.00 
Environmental Intern 1/ .............................................................. 70.00 

NATURAL Principal Resource Specialist .................................................... 180.00 
RESOURCE Resource Project Manager ....................................................... 155.00 
SERVICES* Senior Resource Specialist II .................................................... 140.00 

Senior Resource Specialist I ..................................................... 130.00 
Resource Specialist II................................................................ 115.00 
Resource Specialist I .................................................................. 95.00 
Resource Technician II 1/ ............................................................ 85.00 
Resource Technician I 1/ ............................................................. 75.00 
Resource Intern 1/ ...................................................................... 65.00 
*Manager & Resource Specialist disciplines include: Biologist, Botanist, Fluvial Geomorphologist, 
Geologist, NEPA Specialist, Planner, Wildlife Biologist and Wetland Specialist 

WATER Principal Water Rights Specialist .............................................. 195.00 
RIGHTS Senior Water Rights Surveyor .................................................. 165.00 

SERVICES Senior Water Rights Specialist ................................................. 145.00 
Water Rights Specialist II .......................................................... 120.00 
Water Rights Specialist I ........................................................... 110.00 
Water Rights Technician II ....................................................... 100.00 
Water Rights Technician I .......................................................... 90.00 

1/ Overtime & Saturdays ............................ 1.5x regular hourly rate 
Sunday & Holidays ...................................... 2x regular hourly rate 



Billing Rate ($) 

RCI Fee Schedule Page 2 of 3 RCI  Client 

2020 FEE SCHEDULE 

 

Terms of Payment:  Invoices are due upon presentation and are past due thirty (30) days from invoice date. Past due accounts are subject to one and one-half percent (1½ %) service charge 
per month, or the maximum allowed by law. Payment on delinquent invoices will first be applied to accrued interest and then to the principal amount. Time and expenses incurred (including 
any attorney’s fees and collection costs) will be added to the total amount due. RCI accepts credit card payments, subject to a 3% convenience fee. 

This confidential information is intended only for the use of Nevada Association of Counties (NACO) – On-call Services 7-29 thru 12-31 2021 and is valid for the attached 
proposal for professional services dated July 29, 2021. This information should not be distributed without the written authorization of RCI. 

Effective:  January 2020 

CARSON CITY 
340 North Minnesota St. 
Carson City, NV 89703-4152 
(775) 883-1600  •  fax: (775) 883-1656 

LAKE TAHOE 
276 Kingsbury Grade, Ste. 206, Stateline, NV 
PO Box 11796, Zephyr Cove, NV 89448-3796 

(775) 588-7500  •  fax: (775) 589-6333 

Engineering • Surveying • Water Rights 
Resources & Environmental Services 

www.rci-nv.com 

MAPPING Mapping Specialist II ................................................................ 105.00 
SERVICES Mapping Specialist I ................................................................. 100.00 

(CAD & GIS) Mapping Analyst ........................................................................ 90.00 
Mapping Technician II ................................................................ 80.00 
Mapping Technician I ................................................................. 70.00 

RANGE Principal Range Specialist ......................................................... 155.00 
SERVICES Range Project Manager............................................................ 135.00 

Senior Range Specialist II ......................................................... 120.00 
Senior Range Specialist I .......................................................... 110.00 
Range Conservationist II ............................................................ 95.00 
Range Conservationist I ............................................................. 85.00 
Range Technician II 1/ ................................................................. 75.00 
Range Technician I 1/ .................................................................. 65.00 
Range Intern I 1/ ......................................................................... 55.00 

ADMINISTRATIVE Accounting/Business Manager................................................... 90.00 
SERVICES Computer Technician ................................................................. 90.00 

Accounting Staff ......................................................................... 75.00 
Word Processor ......................................................................... 75.00 
Secretary .................................................................................... 65.00 
Technical Aide ............................................................................ 45.00 

1/ Overtime & Saturdays ............................ 1.5x regular hourly rate 
Sunday & Holidays ...................................... 2x regular hourly rate 



Billing Rate ($) 

RCI Fee Schedule Page 3 of 3 RCI  Client 

2020 FEE SCHEDULE 

 

Terms of Payment:  Invoices are due upon presentation and are past due thirty (30) days from invoice date. Past due accounts are subject to one and one-half percent (1½ %) service charge 
per month, or the maximum allowed by law. Payment on delinquent invoices will first be applied to accrued interest and then to the principal amount. Time and expenses incurred (including 
any attorney’s fees and collection costs) will be added to the total amount due. RCI accepts credit card payments, subject to a 3% convenience fee. 

This confidential information is intended only for the use of Nevada Association of Counties (NACO) – On-call Services 7-29 thru 12-31 2021 and is valid for the attached 
proposal for professional services dated July 29, 2021. This information should not be distributed without the written authorization of RCI. 

Effective:  January 2020 

CARSON CITY 
340 North Minnesota St. 
Carson City, NV 89703-4152 
(775) 883-1600  •  fax: (775) 883-1656 

LAKE TAHOE 
276 Kingsbury Grade, Ste. 206, Stateline, NV 
PO Box 11796, Zephyr Cove, NV 89448-3796 

(775) 588-7500  •  fax: (775) 589-6333 

Engineering • Surveying • Water Rights 
Resources & Environmental Services 

www.rci-nv.com 
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Equipment Bailers (disposable) ..................................................................................... 15.00 each 
Expenses Turbidity Meter............................................................................................ 15.00 day 

PH/Temp/Conductivity/Meter/Filter .......................................................... 25.00 day 
Health/Safety Equipment ...................................................................... Cost Plus 15% 
Utility Locator (Metro 810) ......................................................................... 25.00 day 
Hand Held Portable Auger .......................................................................... 15.00 day 
GPS (hand unit)............................................................................................ 50.00 day 
Dissolved Oxygen / Flow Meter .................................................................. 25.00 day 
Wetlab Samples ............................................................................................. 3.00 each 
Survey Drone ............................................................................................ 600.00 day 

Travel Mileage ........................................................................................................ 68.5¢ mile 
Expenses ATV Use ..................................................................................................... 100.00 day 

UTV Use .................................................................................................... 150.00 day 
Trailer ........................................................................................................... 50.00 day 
Per Diem B-13  L-14  D-23  I-5 .................................................................. 55.00 day 

(in & out of state) .......................................................... plus lodging 

Laminating 8½” x 11 or 11” x 17” .................................................................................... .50¢ each 

Flash Drives USB Flash Drive ............................................................................................ 25.00 each 

Copies & 8½” x 11” or 14” b/w copies ......................................................................... .10¢ each 
Prints 8½” x 11” or 14” color copies ....................................................................... .25¢ each 

11” x 17” b/w copies ..................................................................................... .20¢ each 
11” x 17” color copies ................................................................................... .50¢ each 
24” x 36” b/w prints ...................................................................................... 3.00 each 
24” x 36” color prints .................................................................................... 6.00 each 
24” x 36” Mylar prints ................................................................................. 10.00 each 
30” x 42” color prints .................................................................................... 8.00 each 
36” x 42” color prints .................................................................................. 10.00 each 
36” x 50” color prints .................................................................................. 15.00 each 

GIS Color 8½” x 11” GIS color prints ............................................................................. 1.50 each 
Prints* 11” x 17” GIS color prints .............................................................................. 3.00 each 

24” x 36” GIS color prints ............................................................................ 12.00 each 
36” x 42” GIS color prints ............................................................................ 15.00 each 

* GIS Color Prints:  When using an aerial, photo or quad background

Third-Party Administrator Fees ............................................................................ Cost Plus 15% 
Other Reimbursable Expenses .............................................................................. Cost Plus 15% 
Consultants/Contractors ....................................................................................... Cost Plus 15% 

Legal Services: Depositions and Preparation .......................... 1.5x regular hourly rate 
Expert Witness Testimony and Preparation ...... 2x regular hourly rate 



July 29, 2021 

National Wild Horse and Burro Program 
U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management 
9828 31st Avenue 
Attn: Dorothea Boothe WO-260 
Phoenix, AZ 85051 

Dear Ms. Boothe, 

On behalf of the Nevada Association of Counties (NACO) I am writing to nominate 
University Nevada, Reno, (UNR) Professor and Researcher, Dr. Barry Perryman, for 
reappointment to the Public Interest (Special Knowledge/Natural Resource Management) 
seat, on the BLM’s National Wild Horse and Burro Advisory Board. Management of wild 
horses and burros on public lands is a top priority for NACO and for every county in the 
State.  County commissioners across Nevada know Dr. Perryman as an expert in rangeland 
management, including the science of wild horse management.   Dr. Perryman is currently 
the Chair of UNR’s Department of Agriculture, Nutrition, and Veterinary Sciences and is 2nd 
Vice President of the International Society for Range Management.  In addition to 
numerous publications related to rangeland health and wild horse management, Dr. 
Perryman is considered by many an authority on wild horses and burros and rangeland 
health in the Great Basin. 

NACO believes that looking to peer reviewed and accredited scientists to inform policy and 
resource management decisions, especially where there is expertise available specific to a 
problem or region, is more important than ever.  Dr. Perryman has brought that knowledge 
to the Wild Horse and Burro Advisory Board and if reappointed would continue to be a 
valuable addition to the Board’s deliberations and recommendations.  Additionally, as 
Nevadan’s we would like to point out the importance of having robust representation from 
Nevada on the Wild Horse and Burro Advisory Board -- as you know, Nevada is ground-
zero for wild horse and burro issues, and home to the majority of these animals in the 
United States.  Including the voices from Nevada who know and understand this issue 
firsthand is critical to any conversation related to wild horse and burro management. 

Agenda Item 12



Today the NACO Board, including representatives from 16 of Nevada’s 17 counties, voted 
unanimously to support Dr. Perryman’s nomination. We respectfully request that you 
consider Dr. Perryman for reappointment to the National Wild Horse and Burro Advisory 
Board. 

Sincerely, 

Dagny Stapleton 
Executive Director 



Biographical Sketch – Barry L. Perryman, Department Chair & Professor 

Barry Layne Perryman, Ph.D. 
Chair Department of Agriculture, Nutrition, and Veterinary Sciences 
Professor of Rangeland Ecology and Management  
Mail Stop 202 
University of Nevada-Reno 
Reno, NV 895557 
775-784-1265
perryman@unr.edu

Education:  
B.S. Agronomy, Abilene Christian University 
M.S. Rangeland Ecology & Management, University of Wyoming
Ph.D. Rangeland Ecology & Management, University of Wyoming

Career Highlights and Experience in Wild Horse and Burro Issues: 

• Served on the National Wild Horse & Burro Advisory Board (2019-2021) representing
public interest (with special knowledge of natural resource management.)

• Elected 2nd Vice President (2021; Presidential term 2023), International Society for
Range Management

• Board of Directors: International Society for Range Management (elected term 2018-
2021).

• White House Council on North American Wildlife Policy; appointed by President G.W.
Bush, 2008.

• Northeastern Great Basin Resource Advisory Council (3-terms 2002-2011, appointed by
Secretaries Norton, Kempthorne, and Salazar).

• Gubernatorial appointment to the Nevada Sage Grouse Conservation Planning Team
(2002-2006).

• Appeared on Fox News wild horse & burro segment as scientific information source.
• Appeared on front page of San Francisco Chronicle as wild horse and burro expert.
• Appeared in National Geographic special report on wild horse and burro challenges.
• Heard on National Public Radio as a wild horse and burro science expert.
• Published 2017 OP-ED in The Daily Caller on the current wild horse and burro

challenge.
• Published 2018 Forum: A Framework for Resetting Wild Horse and Burro Management

(By Barry L. Perryman, Gary McCuin, and Brad W. Schultz) Rangelands, 40:160-165.

mailto:perryman@unr.edu


Qualifications: 

• Ph.D. and M.S. in Rangeland Ecology and Management (University of Wyoming).
• Professor of Rangeland Ecology and Management at the University of Nevada-Reno.
• Authored forty published peer reviewed scientific publications on natural resource

management science challenges.
• Authored two industry standard books on rangeland plant identification.
• Principle author of the Nevada Rancher’s Monitoring Guide.
• Co-author of the second and third editions of the Nevada Rangeland Monitoring

Handbook.
• Recognized internationally as an expert in the field of invasive species management,

habitat management, herbivory/grazing, and ecological restoration.
• Testified before the Senate and House of Representatives on natural resource

management issues.
• Co-author of the successful Great Basin Plant Materials Center congressional initiative.

Experience in working with disparate groups:  

• Member of the Steering Committee for the Free-Roaming Equids and Ecosystem
Sustainability Network

• Facilitator and organizer of the Society for Range Management Wild Horse and Burro
Planning Meeting, Reno, NV 2009.

• Member of the Steering Committee that eventually led to the formation of the Eastern
Nevada Landscape Coalition,  a non-profit conservation organization dedicated to
restoring the dynamic, diverse, resilient landscapes of the arid and semi-arid West for
present and future generations through education, research, advocacy, partnerships, and
the implementation of on-the-ground projects.

• Appointed member (2002-2006) to the Nevada Sage Grouse Conservation Planning
Team, a diverse group of environmental interests that developed the first sage grouse
conservation plan in Nevada.

• Served for three terms as the academic representative on the Northeastern Great Basin
Resource Advisory Council.

Most Recent Relevant Publications (Last 4-years) 

Perryman, B.L., B.W. Schultz, and P.J. Meiman. (2021). Forum: A Change in the Ecological 
Understanding of Rangelands in the Great Basin and Intermountain West and 
Implications for Management: Revisiting Mack and Thompson (1982). Rangeland 
Ecology and Management. 76:1-11.  



Davies, K.W., J.D. Bates, B.L. Perryman, S. Arispe. 2021. Fall-winter grazing after fire in 
annual grass-invaded sagebrush steppe reduced annuals and increased a native 
bunchgrass. Rangeland Ecology and Management. 77:1-8. 

Porensky, L.M, O. Baughman, M.A. Williamson, B.L. Perryman, M.D. Madsen, E.A. Leger. 
2020.  Using native grass seeding and targeted spring grazing to reduce low-level Bromus 
tectorum invasion on the Colorado Plateau Biological Invasions. 
https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-020-02397-0  

Perryman, B.L., B.W. Schultz, M. Burrows, T. Shenkoru, and J. Wilker. 2020. Fall-grazing and 
grazing exclusion effects on cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum) seed bank assays in Nevada, 
USA. Rangeland Ecology and Management. 73:343-347.   

Perryman, B.L., G. McCuin, and B.W. Schultz. 2018. Forum: A Framework for Resetting Wild 
Horse and Burro Management. Rangelands. 40: 160-165. 

Perryman, B.L., B.W. Schultz, J. K. McAdoo, J.C. Cervantes, S. Foster, G. McCuin, and S. 
Swanson. (2018). Viewpoint: An alternative management paradigm for plant 
communities affected by invasive annual grass in the Intermountain West. Rangelands, 
40: 77-82.    

L. M. Porensky, B. L. Perryman, M.D. Madsen, M.A. Williamson, and E. A. Leger. 2018.
Targeted grazing and restoration treatments combine to reduce fuel loads and establish 
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National Wild Horse and Burro Advisory Board 

Member Biographies 

Wild Horse and Burro Advocacy 

Ms. Celeste Carlisle 

Esparto, CA  95627 

Term Expires: 09/20/2021 

Ms. Carlisle is a passionate collaborator with ten years of field biology and equine management experience, most 

notably serving as the Biologist and Science Program Manager for Return to Freedom, a private sanctuary for 

wild horses and burros. Working collaboratively with various stakeholders, Ms. Carlisle played a pivotal role in 

the creation of a detailed proposal for wild horse and burro management that was presented to the BLM and the 

U.S. Congress in 2017. She and other wild horse advocates also participated in a meeting with Interior Secretary 

Zinke to discuss the goals and objectives for sustainable management of wild horses and burros. Ms. Carlisle 

earned a B.S. in equine animal science from Oregon State University and a B.A. in biology from the University of 

California, Santa Cruz. Ms. Carlisle is serving her first term on the Board. 

Veterinary Medicine 

Dr. Tom Lenz, DVM 

Louisburg, Kansas 

Term Expires: 09/20/2021 

Dr. Lenz, an equine practitioner for more than forty years, is a leading mind in the field of equine science, 

specifically equine reproduction, and equine welfare. Beyond his vast veterinary qualifications, Dr. Lenz is also 

the founding chair of the Unwanted Horse Coalition – a broad alliance of equine organizations under the 

American Horse Council that works to educate the horse industry about unwanted horses. In addition to a 

veterinary medical degree, Dr. Lenz earned a M.S. in equine reproduction and is board-certified in theriogenology 

(equine reproduction). His practical approach to understanding ‘the unwanted horse,’ equine reproduction and 

animal welfare is an asset to the Advisory Board. Dr. Lenz is serving his first term on the Board. 

Public Interest (Special Knowledge/Natural Resource Management) 

Dr. Barry Perryman, Ph.D. 

Reno, Nevada 

Term Expires: 09/20/2021 

Dr. Perryman has been a passionate, thoughtful and well-received writer and advocate for the responsible 

stewardship of Western public lands for more than two decades. As an educator, Dr. Perryman works 

collaboratively with various stakeholders to teach best management practices and encourage conservation and the 

responsible use of our public lands. Dr. Perryman has served on several appointed councils; organized and 

facilitated meetings populated by a diverse spectrum of public interests, and continuously served as a wild horse 

and burro expert source for national print and broadcast media outlets. Dr. Perryman earned a Ph.D. and a M.S. in 

Rangeland Ecology and Management from the University of Wyoming and taught Rangeland Ecology and 

Management at the University of Nevada-Reno, where he currently serves as Chair of the Department of Agriculture, 

Veterinary, and Rangeland Sciences. He earned a B.S. in Agronomy from Abilene Christian University. Dr. 

Perryman is serving his first term on the Board. 
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National Wild Horse and Burro Advisory Board 

Member Biographies 

Wildlife Management 

Dr. Vernon C. Bleich, Ph.D. 

Bismarck, North Dakota 

Term Expires: 10/09/2022 

Dr. Bleich is a wildlife biologist with over 40 years of professional experience devoted to studying western 

wildlife populations, improving their management, and advancing conservation of species and habitat. Before 

retiring after 35 years at the California Department of Game and Fish, Dr. Bleich was involved in wildlife 

conservation efforts throughout the Great Basin, Mojave, and Sonoran deserts of California. He currently serves 

as a Research Professor at the University of Nevada, Reno, where he collaborates with faculty on a variety of 

research projects and advises graduate students working primarily on the ecology of large mammals occupying 

the arid-land ecosystems of the Western United States. Dr. Bleich is serving his first term on the Board. 

Humane Advocacy 

Ms. Susan Staniewicz McAlpine 

Kingman, Arizona 

Term Expires: 10/09/2022 

Ms. McAlpine has been involved in raising, training and advocating for horses, both personally and 

professionally, for the majority of her adult life. She is active in her community and currently serves as a 

Trustee (District 4, appointed and elected since September 2017) on the Mohave Community College Board of 

Governors.  She received her B.S. in Secondary Education at Framingham State University and her Master of 

Education in Instructional Design from the University of Massachusetts in Boston. Ms. McAlpine has served on 

the Mohave County Horse Science Committee, planned educational equestrian programs for area residents and 

volunteered for the Arizona Dressage Association. She has also written extensive grants for a local animal 

sanctuary and is a published author. Ms. McAlpine is serving her first term on the Board. 

Livestock Management 

Mr. Steven W. Yardley 

Beaver Utah 

Term Expires: 10/09/2022 

Mr. Yardley, currently Vice President of Yardley Cattle Company, is a public land rancher and private 

landowner who holds grazing permits from the BLM and the U.S. Forest Service. A graduate of Southern Utah 

University, Yardley has been active with the Future Farmers of America, Utah Cattlemen’s Association, 

National Cattlemen’s Beef Association, and Southern Utah University’s Block and Bridle Club. Currently, Mr. 

Yardley also serves as Vice President of the Western Rangelands Conservation Association. This is Mr. 

Yardley’s second consecutive term on the National Wild Horse and Burro Advisory Board. He served his first 

appointment from 2016-2019. 
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National Wild Horse and Burro Advisory Board 

Member Biographies 

Wild Horse and Burro Research 

Dr. Ursula Bechert, DVM, Ph.D. 

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 

Term Expires: 01/11/2024 

Dr. Bechert currently serves as the Director of Graduate Programs for the College of Liberal and Professional 

Studies in the School of Arts and Sciences at the University of Pennsylvania. She received her DVM from 

Washington State University in 1991 and her Ph.D. in Animal Sciences (reproductive endocrinology) from 

Oregon State University in 1998. She has served on numerous national and international panels and committees in 

related disciplines and has over 30 papers published in peer-reviewed journals and books. She has extensive 

practical experience as a veterinarian, researcher, instructor, and academic leader, demonstrating exceptional 

communication and relationship-building skills. Dr. Bechert is serving her first term on the Board. 

Natural Resource Management 

Mr. James French 

Winnemucca, Nevada 

Term Expires: 01/11/2024 

Commissioner French has spent more than 40 years involved in the management of wildlife on public lands in 

north central Nevada. Over the course of his career, including 32 years as a biologist with the Nevada Department 

of Wildlife, he developed a unique understanding of wild horse and burro issues, and has worked with diverse 

groups to develop land management plans on county, state, and federal public lands. Since 2011, he has served on 

the Humboldt county commission, Nevada Association of Counties (NACO) board of directors, National NACO 

Western Interstate Region board of directors, NACO public lands and natural resources state and national steering 

committees, the Humboldt River water authority board of directors, the Nevada State Land Use Planning Council. 

He has contributed to the development of public lands policy, resource management plans and herd management 

plans for over three decades. He has worked collaboratively with county commissions in 16 counties, as well as 

the U.S. Forest Service, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, BLM, Bureau of Indian Affairs, and governments in six 

states. Commissioner French is serving his second term on the Board. 

Public Interest (Equine Behavior) 

Ms. Tammy Pearson. 

Minersville, Utah 

Term Expires: 01/11/2024 

Ms. Pearson serves as a Commissioner for Beaver County, Utah. Commissioner Pearson has nearly 40 years’ 

experience as a public lands rancher in Utah and has worked closely with numerous organizations focused on 

public lands issues. She is a founding member of the Path Forward, Free Roaming Equids and Ecosystem 

Sustainability and Wild Horse and Burro Summit coalitions looking to address the critical issue of wild horse 

and burro management and population control. Commissioner Pearson has spent many hours in Utah and 

Washington, D.C., educating elected leaders on the ecosystem impacts of wild horses and burros, rallying local 

and national stakeholders to improve methods of controlling wild horse and burro populations. She studied 

Agricultural Science at Utah State University. Commissioner Pearson is serving her first term on the Board. 
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NACO Workshop

American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA):
A comprehensive guide on how to use
ARPA funds and create a county plan.

A detailed look at planning and implementing federal
relief dollars.

The American Rescue Plan Act has directed millions of dollars to Nevada's counties. Join us for a
detailed workshop on the use of these funds. Topics of discussion will include a deep dive into
allowable uses of the funds, best practices for planning, a legislative overview of the American

Relief Plan, and technical assistance in writing your county's plan. 

WHO: County Elected Officials and Staff

WHEN: Friday, August 6th at 9:30 a.m.

WHERE: Virtual Attendance Only
Connection instructions will be provided to registrants.

Please RSVP to Amanda by email or by calling 775-883-7863. 
This workshop qualifies for 1 CPO credit in Public Finance.

NACO Committee of the Emeritus

Click here to unsubscribe.

304 S, Minnesota Street, Carson City, NV 89703

Agenda Item 16

mailto:aevans@nvnaco.org?subject=Workshop%20Aug.%206&body=Please%20add%20me%20to%20the%20RSVP%20list%20for%20this%20workshop.
https://www.magnetmail.net/design/INSERT_UNSUBSCRIBEKEYWORD_000
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